
 

 

www.eden.gov.uk         

Rose Rouse 
Chief Executive 

Date: 8 January 2020 
 
 
 
 

Town Hall, Penrith, Cumbria CA11 7QF 

Tel: 01768 817817 

Email: cttee.admin@eden.gov.uk 

 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 

Planning Committee Agenda - 16 January 2020 
 

Notice is hereby given that a meeting of the Planning Committee will be held at 9.30 am on 
Thursday, 16 January 2020 at the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Penrith. 
 

1   Apologies for Absence   
 

2   Minutes   
 

To sign the minutes Pla/101/12/19 to Pla/112/12/19 of the meeting of this Committee 
held on 12 December 2019. 
 

3   Declarations of Interest   
 

To receive any declarations of the existence and nature of any private interests, both 
disclosable pecuniary and any other registrable interests, in any matter to be 
considered or being considered. 
 

4   Appeal Decision Letters  (Pages 5 - 14) 
 

To receive report PP4/20 from the Assistant Director Planning and Economic 
Development which is attached and which lists decision letters from the Planning 
Inspectorate received since the last meeting:  
 

Application 
No. 

Applicant/Appeal Appeal Decision 

18/0266 Mr Myles Thompson 
Land opposite Barns Green, Great 
Salkeld, Penrith, Cumbria 
 
The appeal is made under section 
78 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 against a refusal 
to grant outline planning permission. 
 
The development proposed is 
described as ‘erection of three 
bungalows. The development is a 
single parcel of land and has a 

The appeal is 
dismissed. 



 

www.eden.gov.uk 2 

permanent definable boundary that 
runs adjacent to the northern end of 
Barnes Green development. The 
bungalows would be for local 
occupancy only.’ 

18/0876 Miss Anne Sealby 
Land adjacent to Meadow Beck, 
Greystoke Gill, Penrith, Cumbria, 
CA11 0UQ 
 
The appeal is made under section 
78 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 against a refusal 
to grant planning permission. 
 
The development proposed is the 
erection of a dwelling (local 
occupancy). 

The appeal is 
dismissed. 

 

5   Planning Issues  (Pages 15 - 20) 
 

To note the attached lists of the Assistant Director Planning and Economic 
Development.  

a) Applications determined under office delegated powers for the month of 
December 2019. 

 

6   Planning Issues - Applications for Debate (Green Papers)  (Pages 21 - 72) 
 

To consider the reports of the Assistant Director Planning and Economic 
Development on the following applications:  
 

Item 
No 

Application Details 
Officer 
Recommendation 

Page 
Number 

1 Planning Application No: 19/0844 
 
Variation of condition 2 (plans compliance) 
to amend elevational materials, attached 
to approval 19/0070 
 
Mounteden, Carleton, Penrith 
 
E & S Arnison 

Recommended to: 
 

APPROVE 
Subject to 
Conditions 23 

2 Planning Application No: 19/0637 
 
Erection of five new build dwellings with 
detached garages, change of use of the 
beehive kiln, associated drying sheds, 
workshops and engine room to a dwelling, 
the reconfiguration of the existing access 
and the formation of a new access and 
associated operations including parking 

Recommended to: 
 

APPROVE 
Subject to 
Conditions 31 



 

www.eden.gov.uk 3 

and turning areas, landscaping and foul 
and surface water drainage arrangements 
(as amended). 
 
Wetheriggs Pottery, Clifton Dykes, Penrith 
 
Stoneswood Developments Ltd 

3 Planning Application No: 19/0638 
Listed Building Consent for the 
redevelopment of the Beehive Kiln, 
associated drying sheds, workshops and 
engine rooms to a dwelling and the 
demolition of adjoining buildings and 
structures (as amended). 
 
Wetheriggs Pottery, Clifton Dykes, Penrith 
 
Stoneswood Developments Ltd 

Recommended to: 
GRANT 

 
Subject to 
Conditions 

53 

 

7   Confirmation of Site Visits (if any)   
 

To confirm the date and location of any site visits that may have been agreed. 
 

8   Any Other Items which the Chairman decides are urgent   
 

9   Date of Next Meeting   
 

The date of the next scheduled meeting be confirmed as 13 February 2020. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
R Rouse 
Chief Executive 
 
Democratic Services Contact: Claire Watters 
 
 
Encs 
 
For Attention 
All members of the Council 
 
Chairman – Councillor W Patterson (Independent Group) 
Vice Chairman – Councillor I Chambers (Conservative Group) 
 
Councillors 

M Clark, Independent Group 
M Eyles, Liberal Democrat Group 

H Sawrey-Cookson, Independent Group 
G Simpkins, Liberal Democrat Group 



 

www.eden.gov.uk 4 

D Holden, Liberal Democrat Group 
J C Lynch, Conservative Group 
A Ross, Green Group 
 

J G Thompson, Conservative Group 
D Wicks, Conservative Group 
 

 
Standing Deputies 

D Ryland, Independent Group 
M Hanley, Labour Group 
P G Baker, Liberal Democrat Group 
G Nicolson OBE, Conservative Group 
D Banks, Independent Group 
 

L Harker, Liberal Democrat Group 
S Lancaster, Independent Group 
A Meadowcroft, Conservative Group 
D Smith, Liberal Democrat Group 
 

Please Note:  
1. Access to the internet in the Council Chamber and Committee room is 

available via the guest wi-fi – no password is required 
2. Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 this 

meeting has been advertised as a public meeting (unless stated otherwise) 
and as such could be filmed or recorded by the media or members of the 
public 



 
 

Report No: PP4/20 
 

Eden District Council 
 

Planning Committee 
16 January 2020 

Appeal Decision Letters 

Report of the Assistant Director 
Planning and Economic Development 

 
Attached for Members’ information is a list of Decision Letters received since the last 
meeting: 
 
Application 
Number(s) 

Applicant Appeal Decision 

18/0266 Mr Myles Thompson 
Land opposite Barns Green, Great Salkeld, 
Penrith, Cumbria 
 
The appeal is made under section 78 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against a 
refusal to grant outline planning permission. 
 
The development proposed is described as 
‘erection of three bungalows.  The development 
is a single parcel of land and has a permanent 
definable boundary that runs adjacent to the 
northern end of Barnes Green development.  
The bungalows would be for local occupancy 
only.’ 

The appeal is 
dismissed. 

18/0876 Miss Anne Sealby 
Land adjacent to Meadow Beck, Greystoke Gill, 
Penrith, Cumbria, CA11 0UQ 
 
The appeal is made under section 78 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 against a 
refusal to grant planning permission. 
 
The development proposed is the erection of a 
dwelling (local occupancy). 

The appeal is 
dismissed. 

 
 

Oliver Shimell 
Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

Page  5

Agenda Item 4



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 6 September 2019 

by J M Tweddle BSc(Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 3rd October 2019  

 

Appeal Ref: APP/H0928/W/18/3215922 

Land opposite Barns Green, Great Salkeld, Penrith, Cumbria. 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant outline planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Myles Thompson against the decision of Eden District Council. 

• The application Ref 18/0266, dated 4 April 2018, was refused by notice dated 14 June 
2018. 

• The development proposed is described as ‘erection of three bungalows. The 
development is a single parcel of land and has a permanent definable boundary that 
runs adjacent to the northern end of Barnes Green development. The bungalows would 
be for local occupancy only.’  

 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matters  

2. The original application provided only easting and northing coordinates for the 

site location and so for clarity I have taken the site address from the appeal 

form.  

3. The full description of development as stated on the application form is set out 

above. The Council’s decision notice described the development as ‘Outline 

application for 3 local occupancy dwellings with all matters reserved’. With the 
omission of the words ‘Outline application for’ and ‘with all matters reserved’, 

which do not constitute acts of development, I consider this to be a more 

accurate and succinct description of what is proposed and have proceeded with 
the appeal on this basis.    

4. A plan has been provided which shows the layout of three units, however, as all 

matters are reserved for future approval, I have treated this as indicative and 

had regard to it only in so far as considering whether it would be possible, in 

principle, to develop the site for housing.  

5. At the time the Council determined the planning application, the emerging 

Eden Local Plan 2014-2032 (the ELP) was at an advanced stage and therefore 
the Council ascribed ‘significant weight’ to the emerging policies and refused 

the appeal proposal against this emerging local policy framework. The ELP was 

subsequently adopted in October 2018. The appellant is of the view that the 
Council applied too much weight to emerging ELP policies and failed to consider 

the application in the context of the Councils inability to demonstrate a 5 year 

housing land supply at the time of determination. Notwithstanding these 

Page  6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/18/3215922 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

divergent views, I am required to consider this appeal on the basis of the 

development plan and national policy which are in place at the time of my 

decision. I also note that, since adoption of the ELP, there is no dispute over 
the Council’s ability to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply. Therefore, I 

have given full weight to the policies of the ELP in my determination of this 

appeal.  

6. A revised version of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) 

was published on 19 February 2019 and this post-dates the Council’s refusal 
notice. I have had regard to the revised Framework in my decision and I am 

satisfied that this has not prejudiced either party as they have had the 

opportunity to comment during the appeal proceedings.    

Main Issues 

7. The main issues are: 

i) Whether the appeal site is a suitable location for residential 

development, having regard to the local development strategy for the 

area; and  

ii) the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area.  

Reasons 

Suitability of the location  

8. The appeal site is an agricultural field on the western edge of the village of 
Great Salkeld in the Eden Valley. The site is a rectangular parcel of land 

extending westerly, out of the village, along the southern side of Green Lane 

and has been subdivided from a larger field by a post and wire fence.  

9. Policy LS1 of the ELP provides the Council’s locational strategy to guide new 

development across the district. It sets out a hierarchical approach to 
development, identifying Great Salkeld as a ‘smaller village and hamlet’, 

towards the lower end of the settlement hierarchy. At such locations the policy 

permits development of an appropriate scale that would reflect the existing 

built form of the settlement and subject to specific criteria. Where proposals 
would deliver new housing on greenfield sites this would be subject to a local 

occupancy restriction. The policy goes on to state that development must be of 

a high quality design and will be restricted to infill sites or rounding off 
development.  

10. ELP Policy LS1 describes infill sites as sites ‘which fill a modest gap between 

existing buildings within the settlement’ and rounding off as providing ‘a 

modest extension beyond the limit of the settlement to a logical, defensible 

boundary’ (my emphasis). The distinction being that infill takes place within the 
settlement and rounding off takes place beyond the current limits of the 

settlement. It follows, therefore, that the proposal cannot claim to be both infill 

and rounding off development.  

11. The appeal proposal would extend the settlement into the adjacent open 

countryside beyond its current limits, therefore, it would not fill a gap between 
existing buildings within the settlement. The location of a slurry lagoon and 

farmstead to the west of the site is acknowledged, however, given the 

intervening undeveloped countryside, this does not form part of the settlement. 

Page  7

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/18/3215922 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

As such, the proposal cannot reasonably be considered as an infill site in the 

context of ELP Policy LS1.  

12. The ELP does not offer a conclusive definition of what is meant by rounding off 

to a ‘logical, defensible boundary’. The Council suggest that this would be a 

landscape feature such as a road, wood, river, railway line or a significant rise 
or fall in topography, which would prevent further extension of development. I 

have been referred to two separate appeal decisions1 where the respective 

Inspectors agreed with this approach, therefore, I see no reason to deviate 
from this stance.  

13. The appeal site has been carved out of a larger field by subdividing the land 

with a post and wire fence to a depth that would be comparable with the 

adjacent dwellings to the east and extends westerly to match up with the 

extent of the Barns Green development opposite. This results in a somewhat 
arbitrary boundary that does not reflect the historical and well-defined stone 

walled boundaries present in the locality. It does not provide a strong physical 

boundary and the site is absent of any landscape features that could provide a 

defensible boundary to contain the development and prevent any further 
encroachment into the surrounding countryside.  

14. A legal agreement has been suggested to prohibit any development on the land 

to the west of the site, in order to create a defensible boundary. However, in 

the absence of a physical landscape feature, that would offer a more visually 

obvious and logical boundary to the settlement, I am not convinced that this 
would provide a suitable alternative that would meet the policy expectation. 

Furthermore, I do not have a legal agreement before me and thus I am unable 

to give this any meaningful weight in my deliberations of the appeal.  

15. Against this background, I find that the appeal proposal is neither an infill site 

nor a rounding off of the settlement and, therefore, notwithstanding that a 
local occupancy condition could be imposed, the site is not a suitable location 

for residential development. As a consequence, it would conflict with Policy LS1 

of the ELP, which sets out the locational strategy for the district and seeks to 
ensure that new development is appropriate to its local context.  

Character and appearance  

16. Great Salkeld is a largely nucleated settlement with buildings clustered around 

a triangular core with St Cuthbert’s church at its centre. Beyond this, 
development predominantly stretches out along the main highway and 

comprises small historical farmsteads and traditional Cumbrian longhouses, 

with limited examples of modern infill development. The exception being two 
small residential developments along the northern side of Green Lane which 

result in a more modern and looser arrangement that detracts somewhat from 

the well-defined and compact historical form of the settlement. The village is 
framed by a patchwork of agricultural fields bound by traditional stone walls 

which provide an attractive open and largely undeveloped rural setting.  

17. The appeal site is a small field that has been subdivided, by a post and wire 

fence, from a larger field and is located adjacent to the last house in the village 

along the southern side of Green Lane. Along with the land to its west, the site 
provides a physical break in development between Great Salkeld and the 

                                       
1 APP/H0928/W/18/3214337 and APP/H0928/W/18/3194233,  

Page  8

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/18/3215922 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

smaller settlement of South Dykes to the west. As such, its undeveloped rural 

characteristics make a significant contribution to the pleasant rural landscape 

setting of the village of Great Salkeld. The dissection of the site from its larger 
host creates an arbitrary boundary that is unrelated to the historical field 

boundaries and patterns of enclosure found in the locality and which are more 

commonly delineated by stone walls, a defining characteristic of the local 

landscape. 

18. The proposed extension of the settlement into the adjacent open countryside 
would be harmful, both to the character of the village and its surrounding 

landscape setting, by disrupting the existing pattern of distinct agricultural 

fields which frame the settlement. This would be at odds with the compact and 

well-defined form of the settlement and would result in a degree of 
urbanisation and encroachment into the countryside that would harmfully erode 

its landscape character.  

19. It is suggested that a stone boundary wall could be erected to the rear and side 

of the site to form a stronger and more defensible boundary that would 

complement its surroundings. However, this would not overcome the harm to 
the local landscape and would emphasise the arbitrary nature of the site which 

bears no relation to historic field patterns, an important element of rural 

landscape character.     

20. The appellant argues that the proposed housing would be appropriately located 

to mirror the extent of the Barns Green development along the northern side of 
the road and be seen as a continuation of the linear form of development 

adjacent to the immediate east of the site. However, mirroring the building line 

set by the Barns Green development and continuing the current form of 
development into the open countryside only accentuates the harm I have found 

to the landscape setting of the village and, without a defensible boundary, 

harmfully distorts the well-defined and compact character of the settlement.  

21. To conclude on this main issue, I find that the proposed development would be 

harmful to the character and appearance of the area. This would be contrary to 
Policies DEV5 and ENV2 of the ELP which together require new development to 

show a clear understanding of the form and character of the district’s built and 

natural environment and to conserve and enhance distinctive elements of 

landscape character.  

Other Matters 

22. The appellant has drawn my attention to two historical planning approvals2 for 

housing development within Great Salkeld, suggesting that neither of these 
sites involved a defensible boundary, were in an open field not a linear 

development and lying fully within a conservation area. I can see that these 

applications were approved by the Council in August 2017 and January 2018 
respectively. These approvals predate the adoption of the ELP and therefore 

the policy context has changed. As such, they are not directly comparable to 

the appeal proposal which has been considered on its own merits and against 

the provisions of the current development plan.  

23. I have also been referred to a more recent approval for residential 
development within the village3 and to an appeal decision at Brougham4. 

                                       
2 Local Planning Authority Ref. 17/0211 and 17/0894 
3 Local Planning Authority Ref. 19/0243 

Page  9

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/18/3215922 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

However, I do not have the full details of these schemes before me and 

therefore cannot be sure that they offer a direct comparison to the appeal 

proposal.  

24. The appellant cites positive pre-application discussions with Officers at the 

Council, although, I am mindful that such discussions are informal and not 
binding upon any formal determination the Council may make.  

25. While I acknowledge that the development would be within the 30mph zone of 

the village, this does not delineate the spatial extent of the village nor does it 

provide a settlement boundary for development. It does not therefore provide 

a justification for the appeal proposal.    

26. I note that the site would be in close proximity to a range of services and 

facilities on offer within the village, and in nearby settlements. Furthermore, 
the proposal would make a limited contribution to local housing supply and 

provide a small housing site for which the local Parish Council is supportive. 

However, these matters do not outweigh the harm I have found and the 
resulting conflict with the development plan.  

Conclusion 

27. For the reasons I have set out, and having considered all other matters raised, 

I conclude that the appeal should not succeed.  

J M Tweddle  

INSPECTOR 

                                                                                                                           
4 APP/H0928/W18/3216684 

Page  10

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 7 October 2019 

by J M Tweddle BSc(Hons) MSc MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 20 December 2019 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/H0928/W/19/3233165 

Land adjacent to Meadow Beck, Greystoke Gill, Penrith, Cumbria CA11 0UQ 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Miss Anne Sealby against the decision of Eden District Council. 

• The application Ref 18/0876, dated 18 October 2018, was refused by notice dated  
17 January 2019. 

• The development proposed is the erection of a dwelling (local occupancy). 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Procedural Matters  

2. I have taken the site address from the appeal form as this appears to be a more 

accurate reflection of the site’s location.  

3. A revised version of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) was 

published on 19 February 2019 and this post-dates the Council’s refusal notice. I 
have had regard to the revised Framework in my decision and I am satisfied that 

this has not prejudiced any party as they have had the opportunity to comment 

during the appeal proceedings.    

Main Issues 

4. The main issues are: 

• Whether the site is a suitable location for residential development, having 

regard to the local development strategy for the area, and;  

• The effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the surrounding 

area.  

Reasons 

Suitability of the location  

5. The appeal relates to an irregular parcel of land on the western edge of the small 

settlement of Greystoke Gill. The site is an agricultural field that adjoins the 

western boundary of Meadowbeck, a former barn that has been converted to 

residential use and the most westerly property within the settlement on the 
southern side of the road. The site wraps around Meadowbeck and extends south 

towards the River Petteril. The proposal is for a self-build two storey detached 

dwelling with three bedrooms and an internal floor area of 150sqm.  

Page  11

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/19/3233165 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

6. The Council’s locational strategy for new development is outlined in Policy LS1 of 

the Eden Local Plan 2014-2032 (the ELP). It sets out a hierarchical approach to 

development and advises that within smaller villages and hamlets, such as 
Greystoke Gill, development will be restricted to: infill sites, which fill a modest 

gap between existing buildings within the settlement; rounding off, which provides 

a modest extension beyond the limit of the settlement to a logical, defensible 

boundary, and; the reuse of traditional rural buildings and structures.  

7. The proposal would extend the built form of the settlement beyond its current 
limits into the surrounding countryside. It would not therefore amount to infill 

development in the context of ELP Policy LS1.  

8. In terms of ‘rounding off’, the Council consider that a logical defensible boundary 

would be a landscape feature such as a road, wood, river, railway line or a 

significant rise or fall in topography, which would prevent further extension of 
development. This approach appears to be supported by several recent appeal 

decisions1 and, therefore, I see no reason to take an alternative view.  

9. The site is enclosed to the west by a post and wire fence and is constrained to the 

south by a fall in topography and the River Petteril. To the east is Meadowbeck 

and to the north is a drystone wall alongside the public highway. While the 

addition of a single house on the edge of the settlement could be considered as a 
modest extension, I consider the site to be particularly large as it extends from 

the roadside to the river and partially extends across the southern boundary of 

Meadowbeck. Therefore, in my view, this does not amount to a modest extension 
to the settlement. Furthermore, I do not consider the post and wire fence to be a 

landscape feature that offers a logical or defensible boundary and thus the 

proposal would result in a somewhat stark intrusion into the open countryside. 
The presence of built development on the opposite side of the road to the appeal 

site does not provide a justification for the proposal as it does not address the lack 

of a defensible boundary to the west of the site. Consequently, the proposal would 

not round off the settlement.   

10. It is proposed to reinforce the western boundary of the site with a hedge, the 
suggestion being that this would form a feature that could provide a defensible 

boundary. However, this would be a somewhat artificial boundary established out 

of necessity to justify the proposal rather than an existing landscape feature that 

would offer a more obvious and logical edge to the settlement. Furthermore, the 
introduction of such a feature, to justify the proposal, would undermine the very 

purpose of the test set out in Policy LS1. 

11. It is common ground between the parties that the proposal would comply with 

some of the criteria set out in ELP Policy HS2, namely that the dwelling would 

have an internal floorspace of no more than 150sqm and that a local occupancy 
restriction could be applied. In this regard, I acknowledge that the appellant has a 

strong local connection with the area, having been brought up in the hamlet and 

with close relatives still residing there. I also note the appellant’s desire to move 
closer to these relatives to assist with their care and that the proposal is a self-

build project for herself and her fiancé who teaches locally. However, these 

matters do not outweigh the conflict with Policy LS1 or the first criterion of Policy 
HS2 which restricts development to infilling or rounding off.  

                                       
1 Appeal Ref. APP/H0928/W/18/3194233, APP/H0928/W/19/3229308 and APP/H0928/W/19/3224668 

Page  12

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/19/3233165 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

12. I therefore conclude that the development would not be a rounding off of the 

settlement and therefore the site cannot be considered a suitable location for 

residential development, having regard to the local development strategy for the 
area. As a consequence, the proposal is contrary to Policies LS1 and HS2 of the 

ELP which together set out the locational strategy for new development across the 

district and seek to ensure that new housing within smaller villages and hamlets is 

of an appropriate scale that reflects its local context.   

Character and appearance  

13. Greystoke Gill is a rural hamlet consisting of approximately 18 dwellings. 

Development appears to have grown up around three or four historical 
farmsteads, providing a strong rural character to the settlement which centres 

around the road bridge over the River Petteril. Built form is at intermittent and 

irregular intervals and broken up by undeveloped informal green spaces which 
provide the appearance of an informal but well-kempt village green. The open and 

spacious aspects of the fields which surround the hamlet provide a positive 

contribution to its overall character and form an important rural setting that 

frames the hamlet.       

14. The proposed development would erode the contribution the appeal site makes to 

the rural setting of the hamlet and, in doing so, would amount to a harmful 
intrusion into the surrounding countryside. Having studied the proposed plans and 

drawings I consider the design of the dwelling, in itself, to be of an appropriate 

scale and to incorporate a sympathetic suite of materials including salvaged red 
sandstone and natural slate. However, its detached garage and large parking area 

positioned to the front of the property, along with its significant set back from the 

highway, provides a layout that is more akin to a suburban environment and 
would therefore be at odds with the surrounding rural character of the hamlet.  

15. Furthermore, the positioning of the proposed dwelling set beyond the south-facing 

elevation of Meadowbeck, highlights its awkward relationship with the adjacent 

built form and accentuates its intrusion into the countryside. In this respect it 

would not relate well to its surroundings and would instead appear as a discordant 
addition to the settlement.  

16. I appreciate that the timber cladding and areas of glazing have been positioned 

away from the roadside frontage and also note the appellant’s intention to utilise 

an air source heat pump and other energy saving interventions that would reduce 

the occupant’s carbon footprint. Nonetheless, these matters do not outweigh the 
harm I have found to the character and appearance of the surrounding area.  

17. The appellant has suggested that the site would largely be screened by a line of 

mature trees on the approach into the hamlet from the west. These trees are 

some distance from the appeal site and would offer only limited screening for part 

of the year when they are in full leaf, as such they would not overcome the 
proposal’s impact on the surrounding countryside.   

18. The appellant has also suggested that the proposal would be less harmful than the 

existing bungalows opposite the site and which are clearly visible on the western 

approach into the settlement. I agree that these dwellings detract somewhat from 

the simple rural character of the settlement, yet this does not justify development 
that I have found to be harmful to the character and appearance of the 

surrounding area.  

Page  13

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/H0928/W/19/3233165 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

19. Consequently, I have found that the proposed development would have a harmful 

effect on the character and appearance of the surrounding area. This does not 

accord with Policy DEV5 of the ELP which requires new development to show a 
clear understanding of the form and character of the district’s built and natural 

environment, complementing and enhancing the existing area.  

Other Matters  

20. I have been referred to several other developments within the district which the 

appellant considers to provide a justification for allowing the appeal. However, I 

do not have the full details of these other cases before me and therefore I am not 

fully aware of the circumstances that led to these proposals being accepted and so 
cannot be sure that they represent a direct parallel to the appeal proposal. In any 

case, I have considered the appeal proposal on its own merits and based on the 

evidence before me.  

21. I appreciate that the appellant feels aggrieved over the expense of submitting the 

planning application and the professional fees associated with putting the 
application together, only to then receive a refusal. This disappointment was 

compounded by the fact that she had initially received positive pre-application 

planning advice from the Council. However, I am mindful that pre-application 

discussions are informal and not binding upon any formal determination the 
Council may subsequently make. I also note that at the time the advice was 

issued the Council had not yet adopted the ELP and the policy position was 

therefore yet to be confirmed.  

22. The appellant raises concerns over the Council’s handling of the planning 

application and the fact that an objector is related to a member of staff within the 
Council’s Planning Team. These are not matters for my consideration and instead 

should be referred for resolution via the Council’s complaints procedure, if the 

appellant so wishes.  

23. I acknowledge that the proposed access arrangements were acceptable to the 

Highway Authority and that the Parish Council along with a local resident were 
supportive of the proposal. There would be no loss of privacy or overlooking of 

neighbouring residents and the property would incorporate ground floor bedrooms 

potentially making it attractive to elderly or disabled persons. However, these 
matters do not outweigh the harm I have found in this case and the resulting 

conflict with the development plan. 

24. I am sympathetic to the appellant’s desire to return to the hamlet where she grew 

up and can appreciate her frustration over rising house prices in the locality along 

with the presence of second homes. Accordingly, I take no pleasure in frustrating 
her efforts, but this does not justify a decision other than in accordance with the 

provisions of the development plan.     

Conclusion  

25. For the reasons I have set out, the appeal is dismissed.   

J M Tweddle  

INSPECTOR 

Page  14

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


PLANNING COMMITTEE

APPLICATIONS DETERMINED UNDER OFFICER DELEGATED POWERS FOR THE MONTH OF DECEMBER 2019

Agenda Item No.

App No DescriptionParish DecisionApp Type Location Applicant

19/0221 Var/Removal of 
S106

Reiver HomesTemple Sowerby APPROVEDVariation of S106 agreement under approval 17/0293. LAND TO THE REAR OF TEMPLE 
SOWERBY MEDICAL CENTRE, 
TEMPLE SOWERBY, PENRITH, 

19/0222 Full Application Willan Homes and 
Developments - Mr J 

Willan

Langwathby APPROVEDResidential development for 25 homes, associated 
roads and infrastructure. Demolition of two existing 
buildings.

LAND AT LANGWATHBY HALL 
FARM, LANGWATHBY, PENRITH, 
CA10 1LW

19/0229 Var/Removal of 
S106

Mr S AtkinsonBrough APPROVEDModification of S106 agreement attached to approval 
15/1072.

LAND ADJACENT TO ATKINSONS 
EARTHMOVING, AUGILL HOUSE 
FARM, BROUGH, KIRKBY 
STEPHEN, 

19/0327 Reserved by 
Cond

Mr Y BhailokBolton APPROVEDDischarge of conditions 3 (archaeology) and 5 
(surface water drainage) attached to approval 
15/0917.

EDEN GROVE, BOLTON, APPLEBY, 
CA16 6AJ

19/0328 Reserved by 
Cond

Mr Y BhailokBolton APPROVEDDischarge of conditions 3 (archaeology) and 5 
(surface water drainage) attached to approval 
15/0633.

EDEN GROVE, BOLTON, APPLEBY, 
CA16 6AJ

19/0371 Reserved Matters Mr I DaltonCatterlen APPROVEDReserved matters application for access, 
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale attached 
to approval 18/0011.

LAND BETWEEN PARK VIEW AND 
JOINERS BROW, CATTERLEN, 
PENRITH, CA11 0BQ

19/0450 Full Application Eden Rivers Trust - Mr 
L Dahl

Little Strickland APPROVEDRe-meandering of approximately 800m of river 
channel back in to the associated floodplain and 
creation of floodplain habitat features.

THRIMBY GRANGE FARM, 
THRIMBY, PENRITH, CA10 3QH

19/0464 Full Application Mr & Mrs CreightonSkelton APPROVEDRe-roofing, alterations and extension to an existing 
dwelling

LINTON GHYLL FARM, IVEGILL, 
CARLISLE, CA4 0PH

19/0465 Listed Building Mr & Mrs CreightonSkelton APPROVEDListed building consent for re-roofing, alterations and 
extension to an existing dwelling.

LINTON GHYLL, IVEGILL, 
CARLISLE, CA4 0PH

19/0618 Listed Building Mr & Mrs PriorSkelton APPROVEDListed Building consent for the replacement of North 
facing bay window.

THE ARCHES, HIGH HEAD CASTLE, 
IVEGILL, CARLISLE, CA4 0PN

19/0629 Full Application Mr J ButterworthAlston APPROVEDProposed new buildings for stabling and associated 
storage.

WELLGILL FARM, NENTHEAD, CA9 
3PY

19/0670 Listed Building Mrs C TremayneSockbridge & 
Tirril

APPROVEDListed building consent for internal alterations. THWAITE COTTAGE, TIRRIL, 
PENRITH, CA10 2JF

03 January 2020 Page 1 of 5

P
age  15

A
genda Item

 5



App No DescriptionParish DecisionApp Type Location Applicant

19/0685 Listed Building Stanthorne LtdAppleby APPROVEDListed building consent for development of former 
bank premises and upstairs residential unit into 5 no. 
residential apartments.

19 BOROUGHGATE, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6XF

19/0690 Full Application Mr & Mrs T CleasbyTemple Sowerby APPROVEDProposed demolition of existing single storey 
extensions for two storey domestic extension.  
Formation of double garage to existing detached 
annexe incorporated to new boundary.

IVY HOUSE, TEMPLE SOWERBY, 
PENRITH, CA10 1SB

19/0701 Full Application Mr G & Mrs A TeevenAlston APPROVEDChange of use from ancillary accommodation to 
holiday cottage and associated rear extension, 
renovations and parking.

HILLSIDE COTTAGE, GARRIGILL, 
ALSTON, CA9 3EX

19/0710 Listed Building Ms J BeilbyPenrith APPROVEDListed Building Consent for the removal of exterior 
window boxes and associated works.

9 QUEEN STREET, PENRITH, CA11 
7XF

19/0718 Full Application Mr D GarnettCulgaith APPROVEDInstall 1no. door and 2no. windows into existing 
storm porch.

12  OTTERS HOLT, CULGAITH, 
PENRITH, CA10 1SG

19/0725 Full Application Miss A TurnbullPenrith APPROVEDSingle storey side extension and boundary fence, 
part retrospective.

35 ROMAN ROAD, PENRITH, CA11 
8DY

19/0726 Full Application Wilkes-Green & Hill 
Ltd - Mr A Wilkes-Green

Penrith APPROVEDReversal of door and window positions on South East 
elevation.

9 - 10 ANGEL LANE, PENRITH, CA11 
7BP

19/0727 Full Application Mr & Mrs HollywoodPenrith APPROVEDThe erection of a single storey extension to the rear 
of the property.  

5 JUBILEE LODGE, BEACON EDGE, 
PENRITH, CA11 7SQ

19/0728 Full Application Mr C Fiddes - BBMHesket APPROVEDNew plant room access. VETERINARY LABORATORIES 
AGENCY, CALTHWAITE, PENRITH, 
CA11 9RR

19/0740 Full Application Messrs M J DentCatterlen APPROVEDErection of agricultural building to include milking 
parlour.

CATTERLEN HALL, CATTERLEN, 
PENRITH, CA11 0BB

19/0741 Full Application Messrs M J DentCatterlen APPROVEDErection of agricultural building. CATTERLEN HALL, CATTERLEN, 
PENRITH, CA11 0BB

19/0743 Full Application Hunter Hall 
Developments Ltd

Great Salkeld APPROVEDVariation of condition 2 (plans compliance) in respect 
of design modifications attached to approval 18/0824.

HUNTER HALL FARM, GREAT 
SALKELD, PENRITH, CA11 9NA

19/0744 Full Application Mr M KerseyPenrith APPROVEDSingle storey extension to the south and west 
elevations of dwelling.

43 CROFT TERRACE, PENRITH, 
CA11 7RU

19/0745 Full Application Mr & Mrs FisherHesket APPROVEDProposed alterations and extension. WOODLANDS BARROCK PARK, 
SOUTHWAITE, CARLISLE, CA4 0JS

03 January 2020 Page 2 of 5

P
age  16



App No DescriptionParish DecisionApp Type Location Applicant

19/0747 Full Application Hayton Agriculture Ltd - 
Mr C Harrison

Hesket APPROVEDProposed application for installation of a chimney, 
ecological louvred/vented bat nesting cupola to the 
roof and associated works.

THE RETREAT, SOUTHWAITE, 
CARLISLE, CA4 0ER

19/0748 Listed Building Mr P FussellAppleby APPROVEDListed Building Consent for internal and external 
alterations.

8  BATTLEBARROW, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6XS

19/0749 Full Application Mr & Mrs Colin CraigSkelton APPROVEDProposed first floor extension to form sun room/snug. OAKTREE COTTAGE, IVEGILL, 
CARLISLE, CA4 0PP

19/0753 Full Application JIW Properties Ltd - Mr 
I Wilkinson

Sockbridge & 
Tirril

APPROVEDVariation of condition 2 (plans compliance) to 
reposition unit 1 and make minor amendments to the 
design attached to planning approval 19/0246.

LAND ADJ WALMAR, CROFT HEAD, 
SOCKBRIDGE, PENRITH, 

19/0761 Full Application Mr J SjorupCulgaith APPROVEDPart retrospective application for erection of pony 
shelter, extension to pony shelter.

GILDERWATH, KIRKLAND ROAD, 
SKIRWITH, PENRITH, CA10 1RL

19/0763 Full Application MR J BELLMurton APPROVEDVariation of condition 2 (plans compliance) to include 
alterations to ground floor layout attached to approval 
18/0864.

LANGTON FIELD - LANGTON FARM, 
LANGTON, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6JG

19/0765 Full Application CENTER PARCS LTDBrougham APPROVEDVariation of condition 3 (plans compliance) to include 
change of material to roof of Pancake House 
attached to approval 19/0076.

PANCAKE HOUSE CENTER PARCS, 
WHINFELL FOREST VILLAGE, 
WHINFELL, PENRITH, CA10 2DW

19/0766 Full Application Mr A JakemanDacre APPROVEDRemoval of condition 3 (occupancy) attached to 
approval 11/0332.

SNUG COTTAGE, ROSE BANK, 
STAINTON, PENRITH, CA11 0EP

19/0770 Full Application Messrs AwdeMelmerby APPROVEDRetrospective Installation of Ground Source Heating 
Array and associated (internal) plant/equipment.

BROAD MEADOWS, MELMERBY, 
CA10 1HA

19/0772 Full Application Mr & Mrs Dale SiddleDacre APPROVEDTwo storey rear and side extension YMPGARTH BARN, STAINTON, 
PENRITH, CA11 0ES

19/0778 Tree Works (CA) Sarah Ellwood - Church 
Brough Parish Council

Brough APPROVEDCherry tree x 2 (T1 and T2): Crown reduce by 35%, 
thin by 10% and shape to balance crown; Beech: Fell 
tree to ground level due to conflict with adjacent 
Sycamore; Church Brough Conservation Area.

CHURCH BROUGH VILLAGE 
GREEN, BROUGH, KIRKBY 
STEPHEN, CA17 4EJ

19/0779 Full Application Addis Town Planning 
Ltd - Mr D Addis

Ainstable APPROVEDChange of use of redundant swimming pool to a 
dwelling and associated operations.

FORMER SWIMMING POOL AT 
FAUGH HEAD, AINSTABLE, 
CARLISLE, CA4 9QW

19/0783 Full Application Mr J AshmanAppleby APPROVEDExtension to west elevation. LOW EDGE COTTAGE, 
BOROUGHGATE, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6XG

03 January 2020 Page 3 of 5

P
age  17



App No DescriptionParish DecisionApp Type Location Applicant

19/0786 Full Application Mr R ThrelfellPenrith APPROVEDErection of an agricultural shed for cattle housing. MILBURN HOUSE, BOWSCAR 
ROAD, BOWSCAR, PENRITH, CA11 
9NW

19/0787 Full Application Mr R ThrelfellPenrith APPROVEDErection of an agricultural shed for cattle housing. MILBURN HOUSE, BOWSCAR 
ROAD, BOWSCAR, PENRITH, CA11 
9NW

19/0788 Full Application Mr R ThrelfellPenrith APPROVEDErection of an agricultural shed for cattle housing. MILBURN HOUSE, BOWSCAR 
ROAD, BOWSCAR, PENRITH, CA11 
9NW

19/0789 Reserved by 
Cond

Mr C FisherKirkoswald APPROVEDDischarge of condition 4 (windows and doors) 
attached to listed building consent 17/0960.

BARN ADJ TO BUSKRIGG, BUSK, 
RENWICK, PENRITH, CA10 1LA

19/0792 Full Application Mrs J HunterCatterlen APPROVEDSingle storey rear and front extension, and widening 
access.

DUNROVIN, CATTERLEN, PENRITH, 
CA11 0BQ

19/0795 Full Application Mr C ThrowerGreat Strickland APPROVEDNew Greenhouse HOLLY HOUSE, GREAT 
STRICKLAND, PENRITH, CA10 3DF

19/0797 Full Application Mr & Mrs H HowardGreystoke APPROVEDChange of use of agricultural land into garden, car 
parking and turning areas.

BARN ADJ TO JOHNSTONE FARM, 
JOHNBY ON THE C3014, 
GREYSTOKE, PENRITH, CA11 0UU

19/0799 Listed Building Mr J AshmanAppleby APPROVEDListed building consent for extension to west 
elevation.

LOW EDGE COTTAGE, 
BOROUGHGATE, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6XG

19/0814 Tree Works 
(TPO)

Mr Ian TarrWarcop APPROVEDTree No 5 Sycamore: Reduce lateral loading on 
second lateral above access drive; Tree No 8 Scots 
Pine: Reduce contorted branch extending north by 2-
3m; Tree No 9 Scots Pine: Reduce southern lateral 
at one third and reduce NW lateral by 2-3m in upper 
crown; Tree Nos 10 and 11 Scots Pine: Reduce 
limbs extending into road by up to 2m, to a height of 
approximately 4m; Reasons: to reduce loading on 
branches, reduce contorted branch and reduce 
branches extending into road; Tree Preservation 
Order No 55, 1993, Adjacent to Westgate, Sandford.

WESTGATE COTTAGE, 
SANDFORD, APPLEBY-IN-
WESTMORLAND, CA16 6NR

19/0815 Tree Works (CA) Michael CollinsAlston APPROVEDRe-pollard Birch to previous topping points; Alston 
Conservation Area.

TEMPLE CROFT, TOWNFOOT, 
ALSTON, CA9 3RL

19/0824 Full Application Mr J HoldsworthPenrith APPROVEDWooden extension to side elevation. 14  SYCAMORE DRIVE, PENRITH, 
CA11 8UG

03 January 2020 Page 4 of 5

P
age  18



App No DescriptionParish DecisionApp Type Location Applicant

19/0826 Non-Material 
Amend

Center Parcs 
(Operating Co) Ltd - Mr 

P Kent

Brougham APPROVEDNon Material Amendment comprising of 
Repositioning of the Electricity Sub Station and Bin 
Store.

CENTER PARCS, WHINFELL 
FOREST VILLAGE, WHINFELL, 
PENRITH, CA10 2DW

19/0833 Tree Works (CA) Mr Nigel PatrickGreat Salkeld APPROVEDMagnolia: Crown reduction as shown on photograph 
provided; To reduce excessive shading to 
neighbour's property; Great Salkeld Conservation 
Area.

HELM VIEW, GREAT SALKELD, 
PENRITH, CA11 9NA

19/0864 Notice of Intention G L Armstrong & SonKirkoswald APPROVEDProposed roofing of 2 no. agricultural yards. BLUNDERFIELD EAST, 
KIRKOSWALD, PENRITH, CA10 1EX

In relation to each application it was considered whether the proposal was appropriate having regard to the Development Plan, the representations which were received 
including those from consultees and all other material considerations.  In cases where the application was approved the proposal was considered to be acceptable in planning 
terms having regard to the material considerations.  In cases where the application was refused the proposal was not considered to be acceptable having regard to the material 
and relevant considerations.  In all cases it was considered whether the application should be approved or refused and what conditions, if any, should be imposed to secure an 
acceptable form of development.

03 January 2020 Page 5 of 5

P
age  19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Index 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Eden District Council 

Planning Committee Agenda 
Committee Date: 16 January 2020 

INDEX 

Item 
No 

Application Details 
Officer 
Recommendation 

1 Planning Application No: 19/0844 

Variation of condition 2 (plans compliance) to amend 
elevational materials, attached to approval 19/0070 

Mounteden, Carleton, Penrith 

E & S Arnison 

Recommended to: 

APPROVE 
Subject to Conditions 

2 Planning Application No: 19/0637 

Erection of five new build dwellings with detached garages, 
change of use of the beehive kiln, associated drying sheds, 
workshops and engine room to a dwelling, the 
reconfiguration of the existing access and the formation of a 
new access and associated operations including parking and 
turning areas, landscaping and foul and surface water 
drainage arrangements (as amended). 

Wetheriggs Pottery, Clifton Dykes, Penrith 

Stoneswood Developments Ltd 

Recommended to: 

APPROVE 
Subject to Conditions 

3 Planning Application No: 19/0638 

Listed Building Consent for the redevelopment of the 
Beehive Kiln, associated drying sheds, workshops and 
engine rooms to a dwelling and the demolition of adjoining 
buildings and structures (as amended). 

Wetheriggs Pottery, Clifton Dykes, Penrith 

Stoneswood Developments Ltd 

Recommended to: 

GRANT 
Subject to Conditions 

Page  21

Agenda Item 6



Agenda Index 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 Page  22



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Date of Committee: 16 January 2020 

Planning Application No: 19/0844 Date Received: 26 November 2019 

OS Grid Ref: NY 354093 
530769 

Expiry Date: 22 January 2020 

Parish: Penrith Ward: Penrith Carleton 

Application Type: Variation of Condition 

Proposal: Variation of condition 2 (plans compliance) to amend 
elevational materials, attached to approval 19/0070 

Location: Mounteden, Carleton, Penrith 

Applicant: E & S Arnison 

Agent: Mr G Norman, Graham K Norman (Architect) Ltd 

Case Officer: Caroline Brier 

Reason for Referral: The recommendation is contrary to the view expressed by the 
Penrith Town Council 

 

Page  23



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 

Page  24



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

1. Recommendation 

It is recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the following 
conditions: 

Time Limit for Commencement 

1. The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 

 Reason: In order to comply with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

Approved Plans 

2. The development hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
drawings hereby approved: 

i) Application Form received 26 November 2019 

ii) As Proposed Location Plan (108-107D-01) received 26 November 2019 

iii) As Proposed Plans and Elevations (108-107D-06 A) received 26 November 
2019 

iv) As Proposed Plans, Section and Elevations (108-107D-05 A) received 26 
November 2019 

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and to avoid any ambiguity as to 
what constitutes the permission. 

2. Proposal and Site Description 

2.1 Proposal 

2.1.1 This proposal seeks to amend the elevational materials to this previously approved 
development, from faced salvaged sandstone in a pink/buff colour to vertical cedral 
click weatherboard in a grey/blue colour. 

2.1.2 Planning permission was granted under delegated powers in March 2019 for the 
demolition of the existing dwelling and the erection of a replacement dwelling 
(19/0070). 

2.1.3 The reason for the proposed change in materials is due to there not being enough 
viable salvaged sandstone from the barn conversion next door to clad the replacement 
dwelling as originally planned.  The costs for new sandstone are reported to be high 
and outwith of the applicant’s budget. 

2.1.4 The choice of timber cladding has been made following the approval for timber 
cladding on the garage to the east of the site.  The applicant/agent considers that when 
viewed as a group of buildings, an attractive composition will be provided with the barn 
conversion taking prominence. 

2.1.5 The scale and design of the approved dwelling are to remain the same.  The approved 
chimney is proposed to be changed to a flue and the first floor west facing bathroom 
window is to be slightly enlarged.  These amendments are in keeping with the 
proposed change in materials to the elevations. 

Page  25



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 

2.2 Site Description 

2.2.1 The site known as Mounteden, Carleton is on Beacon Edge at Carleton Hill and is 
located on the eastern fringe of Penrith, approximately 1 kilometre to the east of the 
existing built extent of the town.  The site is considered to be outside of Penrith in a 
rural setting with open countryside around it and sporadic dwellinghouses and 
agricultural buildings. 

2.2.2 There are no listed buildings or conservation areas within the vicinity of this proposal 
and the site is located within a flood zone 1. 

3. Consultees 

3.1 Statutory Consultees 

Consultee Response 

Highway Authority No objection 

Lead Local Flood Authority No objection 

3.2 Discretionary Consultees 

Consultee Response 

Shell Pipeline No effect to the shell pipeline 

4. Town Council 

 Please Tick as Appropriate 

Town Council 
Object Support No Response 

No View 
Expressed 

Penrith     

4.1 ‘Objection. Original application 19/0070 proposed rebuilding using traditional stone like 
the building that was already there. Proposed cladding gives a very different visual 
appearance not in keeping with area. Penrith Town Council would wish to see the 
building in this prominent location with a stone finish to complement the surrounding 
area. Although the cladding proposed can look fine it is felt that it would be too 
incongruent in this area’. 

5. Representations 

5.1 A site notice was posted on 5 December 2019. 

5.2 There are no neighbouring properties and no letters/e-mails of response have been 
received. 

6. Relevant Planning History 

Application No Description Outcome 

09/0004 Proposed conversion of adjoining barn to 
provide additional living accommodation 

Full Approval 
23/03/09 

17/0709 Proposed conversion of barn, extension 
and renovation of house and erection of 
garage 

Full Approval 
20/11/17 

Page  26



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Application No Description Outcome 

18/0096 Revised access for dwelling house 
following approval 17/0709 

Full Approval 
29/03/18 

19/0070 Proposed demolition of the existing 
dwelling and the erection of a 
replacement dwelling 

Full Approval 
27/03/19 

7. Policy Context 

7.1 Development Plan 

Eden Local Plan (2014-2032): 

 DEV5 – Design of New Development 

7.2 Other Material Considerations 

National Design Guide 

National Planning Policy Framework: 

 Chapter 12 - Achieving well-designed places 

7.3 The policies and documents detailed above are the most relevant policies relating to 
the determination of this application. 

8. Planning Assessment 

8.1 Key/Main Planning Issues 

 Landscape and Visual Impacts 

 Scale and Design 

 Residential Amenity 

8.2 Principle 

8.2.1 The principle of the residential development was established under planning approval 
19/0070.  The proposed alterations sought do not alter the previously established 
principle of residential development. 

8.2.2 Policy DEV5 ‘Design of New Development’ looks for proposals to use quality materials 
which complement or enhance local surroundings. 

8.2.3 Paragraph 131, Chapter 12 ‘Achieving well-designed places’ of the NPPF advises that 
‘in determining applications, great weight should be given to outstanding or innovative 
designs which promote high levels of sustainability, or help raise the standard of design 
more generally in an area, so long as they fit in with the overall form and layout of their 
surroundings’. 

8.2.4 The proposed change of elevational materials from faced salvaged sandstone in a 
pink/buff colour to vertical cedral click weatherboard in a grey/blue colour is considered 
to provide the appearance of a converted agricultural building, in-keeping with the rural 
character and nature of the site and landscape setting. 

8.2.5 In principle this proposal is considered to be acceptable in planning terms as it is in 
accordance with the Development Plan, subject to further considerations on landscape 
and visual impacts and scale and design. 

8.3 Landscape and Visual Impacts 

Page  27



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.3.1 The landscape and visual impacts were assessed as acceptable under the previous 
approval (19/0070).  However, the submission of this application on account of the 
proposed change in materials from faced salvaged sandstone in a pink/buff colour to 
vertical cedral click weatherboard in a grey/blue colour, means that the issue requires a 
re-assessment. 

8.3.2 Overall, the proposal would have a limited impact in terms of its broader landscape 
setting.  The proposal would be sited close to the existing barn which is currently being 
converted.  Whilst sited close to the road side, when travelling in an easterly direction 
the dwelling would only be visible when directly passing it.  Views of it when travelling 
in a westerly direction towards Penrith would see the east elevation of the proposal 
with the barn conversion directly behind. 

8.3.3 It is duly noted that the original house (which has now been demolished) was an 
unattractive wet dash render property and was not considered to offer any architectural 
merit to the area.  The approved dwelling is much more aesthetically pleasing. 

8.3.4 The Town Council’s objection offers that the ‘proposed cladding gives a very different 
visual appearance not in keeping with the area’.  They conclude that ‘although the 
cladding proposed can look fine it is felt that it would be too incongruent in this area’. 

8.3.5 It is acknowledged that the change in materials would provide a different visual 
appearance.  However it is also duly noted that the garage approved under planning 
application 17/0709, in association with the barn conversion, would be constructed of 
vertical cedar/larch timber boarding, finished in proprietary microporous timber paint in 
a natural/grey colour.  The changes to the dwelling proposed under this planning 
application, will tie-in and harmonise with the garage. 

8.3.6 It is considered that the approved new dwelling offers an improvement to the visual 
amenity and the change in materials is considered to provide a dwelling with the 
appearance of a converted agricultural building.  Given its location next to a converted 
barn and given the fenestration on the roadside, which would be seen within the public 
realm, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in planning terms. 

8.3.7 It is therefore considered that when viewed as a group of buildings, an attractive 
modern composition would be achieved with the barn conversion taking prominence.  
The proposal is considered to improve the visual appearance of the site thus improving 
any impact on the landscape and amenity of the area. 

8.3.8 Whilst the change from the previously proposed stone finish is unfortunate and the 
concerns of the Town Council duly noted, the applicant has set out the valid reasons 
why viably this can no longer reasonably be achieved.  Notwithstanding this, the 
proposed change in elevational materials to vertical cedral click weatherboard is 
considered to be acceptable and in accordance with policy DEV5 ‘Design of New 
Development’ of the Local Plan. 

8.4 Scale and Design 

8.4.1 The scale of the proposal is to remain the same as already approved. 

8.4.2 The chimney is proposed to be changed to a flue and finished in black, which is 
considered to be more appropriate to the agricultural appearance of the proposal. 

8.4.3 The proposed window opening arrangement is to remain as previously approved, with 
one minor alteration, which is the slight enlargement of the west facing first floor 
bathroom window.  It is not considered that this creates any adverse impacts. 

Page  28



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.4.4 Whilst the scale and overall design of the proposal are to remain the same, this 
application seeks to alter the elevational materials used.  All other previously approved 
materials are to remain the same. 

8.4.5 The proposed dwelling is of a similar height to the barn conversion, however is to be a 
narrower, smaller building and as such the barn conversion takes the prominent 
position on the site. 

8.4.6 The proposed change in materials to the elevations is not in keeping with the stone 
barn conversion next to it, however beyond the barn conversion, to the western edge of 
the site, an approved garage is to be constructed of vertical cedar/larch timber 
boarding. 

8.4.7 This would see timber clad buildings at each end of the site, with the stone barn 
conversion sitting between the two. 

8.4.8 Timber cladding is reported to be a renewable resource and low in carbon footprint 
which can be recycled at the end of its life.  It is also reported provide outstanding 
thermal and sound insulation properties, improving the sustainable nature of the 
dwelling from the previous approval. 

8.4.9 The National Design Guide, paragraph 29, advises that ‘materials should be practical, 
durable, affordable and attractive’. 

8.4.10 Whist the originally approved materials (faced salvaged sandstone in a pink/buff 
colour) were considered acceptable in planning terms.  The proposed amendment to 
the elevational materials is considered to create an innovative and contemporary 
design which is also acceptable and is in accordance with policy DEV5 ‘Design of New 
Development’ of the Local Plan. 

8.5 Residential Amenity 

8.5.1 Once occupied, the barn conversion next door will be the closest neighbouring 
property.  A gap of approximately 6 metres will separate the two.  On the west side 
elevation closest to the barn conversion, the proposal sees a ground floor utility 
window and first floor bathroom window.  These are non-habitable rooms and it is not 
considered that an adverse impact on the living conditions or amenity of either property 
would be created by the proposal. 

8.5.2 The barn conversion to the west has permission for a door and window to be installed 
in the gable end facing the proposal site, under application 17/0709.  It is not 
considered that an adverse impact would be created on either property, due to the non-
habitable nature of the rooms in the proposed new dwelling. 

8.5.3 It is not considered that there will be any adverse impacts on any other neighbouring 
properties, as the nearest property is approximately 250m to the north east. 

9. Implications 

9.1 Legal Implications 

9.1.1 The following matters have been considered but no issues are judged to arise.  Each 
application is considered on the particular planning merits. 

9.2 Equality and Diversity 

9.2.1 The Council must have regard to the elimination of unlawful discrimination and 
harassment, and the promotion of equality under the Equality Act 2010. 

Page  29



Agenda Item 1 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

9.3 Environment 

9.3.1 The Council must have due regard to conserving bio-diversity under the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

9.4 Crime and Disorder 

9.4.1 Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must have regard to the need to 
reduce crime and disorder in exercising any of its functions. 

9.5 Children 

9.5.1 Under the Children Act 2004, the Council has a duty to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children in the exercise of any of its functions. 

9.6 Human Rights 

9.6.1 In determining applications, the Council must ensure that all parties get a fair hearing 
in compliance with the provisions of Article 6 of the European Convention for the 
Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 1950, as now embodied in 
UK law in the Human Rights Act 1998. 

10. Conclusion 

10.1 It is considered that the proposal accords with the Development Plan for the following 
reasons which are not outweighed by material considerations: 

10.2 The applicant has set out the reasons why the previously approved materials cannot 
now viably be achieved and the reasoning for the proposed alterations to the external 
appearance of the dwelling, which are accepted.  The proposed amendment to the 
elevational materials to vertical cedral click weatherboard in a grey/blue colour would 
create an innovative and contemporary design which are not considered to cause any 
overall adverse effect on the landscape of visual amenity of the area and enable the 
completion of the overall development of the site. 

10.3 The proposal is considered to be compliant with policy DEV5 ‘Design of New 
Development’ of the Local Plan, is in accordance with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and is therefore recommended for approval subject to the conditions set 
out in this report. 

Oliver Shimell 
Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

 
 

Background Papers: Planning File 19/0844 and 19/0070 

Checked by or on behalf of the Monitoring Officer  

Page  30



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Date of Committee: 16 January 2020 

Planning Application No: 19/0637 Date Received: 3 September 2019 

OS Grid Ref: NY 355453, 
526282 

Expiry Date: 30 October 2019 

Parish: Clifton Ward: Eamont 

Application Type: Full 

Proposal: Erection of five new build dwellings with detached garages, 
change of use of the beehive kiln, associated drying sheds, 
workshops and engine room to a dwelling, the reconfiguration 
of the existing access and the formation of a new access and 
associated operations including parking and turning areas, 
landscaping and foul and surface water drainage 
arrangements (as amended). 

Location: Wetheriggs Pottery, Clifton Dykes, Penrith 

Applicant: Stoneswood Developments Ltd 

Agent: Addis Town Planning Ltd 

Case Officer: Mr D Cox 

Reason for Referral: Officer recommendation is contrary to that of the Parish 
Council. 

 

 

Page  31



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 

Page  32



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 

1. Recommendation 

It is recommended that planning permission be Approved subject to the following 
additional conditions: 

Time Limit for Commencement 

1. The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 

 Reason: In order to comply with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004. 

Approved Plans 

2. The development hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the plan 
application, submitted application detail, mitigation strategies and 
recommendations (including structural survey report, flood risk assessment, 
heritage statement, ecological appraisal, drainage strategy and tree report) and 
plan drawings and supporting information (as amended) as hereby approved: 

i. Location plan Drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 001 as dated received by the Local 
Planning Authority on the 3 September 2019. 

ii. Amended proposed site plan and layout Drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 004 C as 
dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 19 November 2019. 

iii. Amended proposed House Type (Plot C), plan drawings Ref Nos 317 (02) 500 
A House Type C, Proposed Floor Plans House Type C 317 (02) 501a, 
Proposed elevations Type C 317 (02) 502A as dated received by the LOCAL 
Planning Authority on the 4 December 2019. 

iv. Proposed access scheduling plan 19-0920 as dated received by the Local 
Planning Authority on the 20 September 2019. 

v. Proposed floor plans, House Type A, plan drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 300 as 
dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 September 2019. 

vi. Proposed elevations, House Type A, plan drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 301 as 
dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 September 2019. 

vii. Proposed floor plans, House Type B, plan drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 400 as 
dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 September 2019. 

viii. Proposed elevations, House Type B, plan drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 401 as 
dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 September 2019. 

ix. Proposed plan and elevations, detached garage, plan drawing Ref No 317/01 
(02) 303 as dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 
September 2019. 

x. Kiln buildings and workshops, proposed floor layout, plan drawing Ref No 
317/01 (02) 200 as dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 
September 2019. 

xi. Kiln buildings and workshops, demolitions and alterations layout, plan drawing 
Ref No 317/01 (02) 201 as dated received by the Local Planning Authority on 

Page  33



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

the 3 September 2019. 

xii. Kiln buildings and workshops, proposed elevations, plan drawing Ref Nos 
317/01 (02) 202 and 203 as dated received by the Local Planning Authority on 
the 3 September 2019. 

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and to avoid any ambiguity as to 
what constitutes the permission. 

Prior to commencement: 

3. Prior to commencement of development on site the developer shall submit the 
following details for the agreement in writing by the Council as planning Authority 
and that no work shall commence until approval in writing has been granted. 

a. the method for underpinning the foundations to the two drying sheds, beehive 
kiln, steam engine house; method for underpinning brick piers of the 2nd 
drying shed; 

b. method for construction and location of a French drain around the drying shed; 

c. the location and installation of stainless steel ties proposed to the drying shed, 
beehive kiln, steam engine workshop and house, detached workshop; 

d. method and materials for installing a membrane and limecrete floor in the 
drying shed; 

e. the installation of a concrete pad stone to internal beam of 2nd drying shed; 

f. specification of lime mortar to be used in repointing of all buildings; 

g. details/materials of window refurbishments to 2nd drying shed, workshop and 
steam engine house, detached workshop; 

h. type and colour of slate to be used on the 2nd drying shed roof in replace of 
the corrugated sheeting. 

 Reason: to ensure that repairs are carried out sympathetically using appropriate 
techniques and materials so that further harm to the historic buildings is prevented. 

4. Drawings and/or specifications for the installation of services including lighting, 
heating and waste pipes, into the pottery buildings shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval in writing prior to the commencement of any works 
and thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

 Reason: to ensure works will not cause detrimental harm to the historic fabric and 
features of the buildings. 

5. Prior to the commencement of work onsite the developer shall provide full details 
of landscaping materials for the new access driveway and thereafter the 
development shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved scheme. 

 Reason: To ensure works will not cause detrimental harm to the character and 
setting of the listed buildings. 

6. A mitigation strategy clearly outlining a) a list accompanied by photographs of the 
heritage features that will be retained in-situ and how this will be achieved, b) how 
the steam engine house will be maintained and made accessible to the public 
including access and day-to-day operation, shall be submitted to the LPA prior to 
any works commencing on site and thereafter the development shall be 

Page  34



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

undertaken in accordance with the approved scheme. 

 Reason: to ensure the historic fabric and features of the buildings are 
appropriately retained and preserved for future interpretation. 

7. A Level 3 Building record shall be produced in line with Historic England guidance 
‘Understanding Historic Buildings’ and submitted to the Local Planning Authority 
prior to any works commencing on site. 

 Reason: To record and advance our understanding of the significance of the 
heritage assets and to make this evidence publically accessible in accordance with 
para.199 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

Ongoing conditions: 

8. The drainage for the development hereby approved, shall be carried out in 
accordance with principles set out in the submitted Drainage Strategy dated 
August 2019 published by Tweddell & Slater proposing surface water discharging 
into watercourse. No surface water will be permitted to drain directly or indirectly 
into the public sewer. Any variation to the discharge of foul shall be agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be completed in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 Reason: To ensure a satisfactory form of development and to prevent an undue 
increase in surface water run-off and to reduce the risk of flooding. 

9. Prior to occupation of the development a sustainable drainage management and 
maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority. The sustainable drainage management and maintenance plan 
shall include as a minimum: 

a. Arrangements for adoption by an appropriate public body or statutory 
undertaker, or, management and maintenance by a resident’s management 
company; and 

b. Arrangements for inspection and ongoing maintenance of all elements of the 
sustainable drainage system to secure the operation of the surface water 
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime. The development shall subsequently 
be completed, maintained and managed in accordance with the approved plan 
and thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

 Reason: To ensure that management arrangements are in place for the 
sustainable drainage system in order to manage the risk of flooding and pollution 
during the lifetime of the development. 

10.The development shall not commence until visibility splays providing clear visibility 
of 120 metres measured in both directions and back by 2.4 metres down the 
centre of the access road and the nearside channel line of the carriageway edge 
have been provided at the junction of the access road with the county highway. 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order) relating to permitted development, no structure, vehicle or 
object of any kind shall be erected, parked or placed and no trees, bushes or other 
plants shall be planted or be permitted to grown within the visibility splay which 
obstruct the visibility splays. The visibility splays shall be constructed before 
general development of the site commences so that construction traffic is 

Page  35



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

safeguarded. 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

11.The access drive shall be surfaced in bituminous or cement bound materials, or 
otherwise bound and shall be constructed and completed before the development 
is brought into use. This surfacing shall extend for a distance of at least 15metres 
inside the site, as measured from the carriageway edge of the adjacent highway. 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

12.Any existing highway fence/wall boundary shall be reduced to a height not 
exceeding 1.05m above the carriageway level of the adjacent highway in 
accordance with details submitted to the Local Planning Authority and which have 
subsequently been approved (before development commences) (before the 
development is brought into use) and shall not be raised to a height exceeding 
1.05m thereafter. 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

13.The dwelling shall not be occupied until the vehicular access and turning 
requirements have been constructed in accordance with the approved plan and 
has been brought into use. The vehicular access turning provisions shall be 
retained and capable of use at all times thereafter and shall not be removed or 
altered. 

 Reason: To ensure a minimum standard of access provision when the 
development is brought into use. 

14.Development shall not commence until a Construction Phase Plan (CCP) has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The CPP 
shall include details of: 

 details of proposed crossings of the highway verge; 

 retained areas for vehicle parking, manoeuvring, loading and unloading for their 
specific purpose during the development; 

 cleaning of site entrances and the adjacent public highway; 

 details of proposed wheel washing facilities; 

 the sheeting of all HGVs taking spoil to/from the site to prevent spillage or 
deposit of any materials on the highway; 

 construction vehicle routing; 

and thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

 Reason: To secure a satisfactory form of development on the site. 

15.A surface water drainage scheme, based on the hierarchy of drainage options in 
the National Planning Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the 
site conditions (inclusive of how the scheme shall be managed after completion) 
shall be submitted to and agreed with the Local Planning Authority. 

 The surface water drainage scheme must be in accordance with the Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any 
subsequent replacement national standards and unless otherwise agreed in writing 

Page  36



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

by the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public 
sewerage system either directly or indirectly. 

 Reason: To promote sustainable development, secure proper drainage and to 
manage the risk of flooding and pollution. 

16.A site investigation strategy as identified in the Desk Study report Ref [Meridian 
Geoscience Phase 1 Desk Study dated August 2019] submitted with the 
application above shall be undertaken by a competent person in accordance with 
the current UK requirements for sampling and analysis. 

 Where a site investigation identifies unacceptable levels of contamination, a 
detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the 
intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other 
property and the natural and historical environment shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The submitted scheme shall 
have regard to CLR 11 and other relevant current guidance. The approved scheme 
shall include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and 
remediation criteria and site management procedures. The scheme shall ensure 
that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after 
remediation.  The developer shall give at least 14 days’ notice to the Local 
Planning Authority (Environmental Health Department) prior to commencing works 
in connection with the remediation scheme. 

 Reason: To secure a satisfactory form of development on the site. 

17.None of the [dwellings/buildings] hereby approved shall be occupied until: 

 a) The approved remediation works required by 2 above have been carried out in 
full in compliance with the approved methodology and best practice. If during the 
works new areas of contamination are discovered, which have not previously been 
identified, then the additional contamination shall be re-evaluated through the 
process described in 1b to 2 above and, 

 b) Upon completion of the remediation works required by 2 above a validation 
report prepared by a competent person shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The validation report shall include details of 
the remediation works and Quality Assurance/Quality Control results to show that 
the works have been carried out in full and in accordance with the approved 
methodology. Details of any validation sampling and analysis to show the site has 
achieved the approved remediation standard, together with the necessary waste 
management documentation shall be included. 

 Reason: To protect the health and amenity of future occupants of the proposed 
dwellings. 

18. Prior to the carrying out of any construction works the existing listed buildings 
affected by the proposed development shall be recorded in accordance with a 
Level 2 Survey as described by Historic England’s document Understanding 
Historic Buildings A Guide to Good Recording Practice, 2016.  Within 2 months of 
the commencement of construction works a digital copy of the resultant Level 2 
Survey report shall be furnished to the Local Planning Authority. 

 Reason: to ensure that a permanent record is made of the heritage asset of 
architectural and historic interest prior to its alteration as part of the proposed 

Page  37



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

development. 

Informatives: 

A - Government guidance contained within the National Planning Practice Guidance 
(Water supply, wastewater and water quality – considerations for planning 
applications, paragraph 020) sets out a hierarchy of drainage options that must be 
considered and discounted in the following order: 

1. Connection to the public sewer 

2. Package sewage treatment plant (adopted in due course by the sewerage 
company or owned and operated under a new appointment or variation) 

3. Septic Tank 

B - Foul drainage should be connected to the main sewer. Where this is not possible, 
under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010 any discharge of sewage 
or trade effluent made to either surface water or groundwater will need to be 
registered as an exempt discharge activity or hold a permit issued by the 
Environment Agency, addition to planning permission. This applies to any 
discharge to inland freshwaters, coastal waters or relevant territorial waters. 

 (Please note that the granting of planning permission does not guarantee the 
granting of an Environmental Permit. Upon receipt of a correctly filled in 
application form we will carry out an assessment. It can take up to 4 months 
before we are in a position to decide whether to grant a permit or not.) 

C - Domestic effluent discharged from a treatment plant/septic tank at 2 cubic metres 
or less to ground or 5 cubic metres or less to surface water in any 24 hour period 
must comply with General Binding Rules provided that no public foul sewer is 
available to serve the development and that the site is not within an inner 
Groundwater Source Protection Zone. 

D - A soakaway used to serve a non-mains drainage system  must be sited no less 
than 10 metres from the nearest watercourse, not less than 10 metres from any 
other foul soakaway and not less than 50 metres from the nearest potable water 
supply. 

E - Where the proposed development involves the connection of foul drainage to an 
existing non-mains drainage system, the applicant should ensure that it is in a 
good state of repair, regularly de-sludged and of sufficient capacity to deal with 
any potential increase in flow and loading which may occur as a result of the 
development. 

F - Where the existing non-mains drainage system is covered by a permit to 
discharge then an application to vary the permit will need to be made to reflect 
the increase in volume being discharged.  It can take up to 13 weeks before we 
decide whether to vary a permit. 

2. Proposal and Site Description 

In summary: 

- Full planning permission, listed building consent and scheduled monument consent 
are sought for the redevelopment of Wetheriggs Pottery including the erection of 
five new dwellings and the conversion of the Grade II listed, and associated 

Page  38



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

immediate traditional curtilage buildings, and preservation of adjacent scheduled 
monument, to create an additional dwelling, and all associated infrastructure. 

- The proposal, as a sympathetic refurbishment and sensitive new small scale 
residential development, is suitably and appropriately located within the designated 
settlement of Clifton Dykes. 

- The development will both secure and ensure the long term positive well-being of 
the existing Listed Buildings and Scheduled Ancient Monument on the site, whilst 
maintaining suitable public access. 

- The proposal will also lead to the enhancement of the site overall – contributing 
positively to the local character and distinctiveness of the area. 

- Were approval of this development to be secured, and implementation begun, it 
would thereby supersede the previously approved (holiday lodge/chalet) 
development (16/0792) which would be physically incompatible to jointly and/or 
separately erect and undertake at the same time on site. 

- The proposal is thereby considered to reasonably accord with the aims and criteria 
concerns of the adopted Eden Local Plan. 

- Officer recommendation to approve is however contrary to that of the Parish 
Council who have objected to the development proposed. 

2.2 Proposal 

2.2.1 Full detail approval, as amended (in conjunction with an associated Listed Building 
Consent Submission, Ref No 19/0638) is being sought for the erection of five new build 
dwellings with detached garages, change of use of the beehive kiln, associated drying 
sheds, workshops and engine room to a further dwelling (securing 6 dwellings in total 
on the site overall) and the reconfiguration of the existing access and the formation of a 
new access and associated operations including parking and turning areas, 
landscaping and foul and surface water drainage arrangements. 

 The site contains both a scheduled ancient monument (Old Kiln & settlement pond) 
and a listed building (The Grade II Pottery and Kiln). Both structures relate to the 
historic use of the site as a Pottery. Other more recent buildings and such associated 
structures are to be demolished and removed. 

2.2.2 The proposal includes three different consenting processes – planning permission (for 
works to the listed building/scheduled monument and the wider redevelopment of the 
Site), listed building consent (for the works to the listed building including any curtilage 
listed structures and attached modern buildings) and scheduled monument consent 
(for works to the scheduled ancient monument). 

2.2.3 The applications for the planning permission and listed building consent have been 
made to the Council as local planning authority. The application for scheduled 
monument consent has been made to Historic England who determine such 
applications on behalf of the Department for Culture, Media and Sport. 

2.2.4 A broad range of documents have been prepared in support of the Applications and 
these are listed below. 

2.2.5 The proposed site plan shows how the site will appear once the development is 
complete i.e. five new build dwellings (plots A, C, D, E and F) and on plot B – the 
converted listed building/scheduled monument (the Historic Buildings). The new 
dwellings will all be served from a reconfigured existing access, whilst the Historic 
Buildings will be served by a new access directly onto the Penrith-Cliburn (C3047) 
Road. 

Page  39



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

2.2.6 Each new dwelling will stand in a generous plot with shared drainage infrastructure 
across the site including an upgraded package treatment plant. 

2.2.7 The new dwellings on plots C (as amended), D, E, and F are broadly of the same 
design theme with minor plot variances including handling and mirroring to suit the plot. 
Their design theme is traditional in appearance and based around a polite Georgian 
style. The new dwelling on plot A at the farthest (western end of the site) whilst 
recognising and supporting an overall theme, adopts a different design approach - 
being more modern in appearance whilst taking design leads from the simplicity of the 
traditional buildings on the site. 

2.2.8 The Historic Buildings on the site, the former Wetheriggs Pottery, are in an extremely 
poor state of disrepair and require significant investment to their fabric to preserve their 
character and appearance. Included with their proposed conversion (to a dwelling) will 
be significant strengthening works in many cases to put right historic interventions that 
have not stood the test of time. 

2.2.9 Modern buildings to the southeast of the Historic Buildings and around the wider site 
are to be demolished and removed. They are not considered suitable for conversion 
and, in many cases, significantly detract from the character of the site and particularly 
the settings of the Historic Buildings and the associated settlement pond, a designated 
ancient monument. 

2.2.10 Surface water would be attenuated and then discharged to the existing watercourse to 
the west of the Site. Foul water would be discharged to the existing package treatment 
plant prior to discharge to the surface water system. 

2.2.11 The submission and application is accompanied by the following: 

• Heritage Statement; 

• Design and Access Statement; 

• Repair Schedule; 

• Flood Risk Assessment; 

• Drainage Strategy; 

• Phase 1 Desk Study; 

• Structural Survey; 

• Ecological Appraisal; and 

• Planning Drawings (as amended). 

2.2.12 The application is not sought as an enabling proposal, however the presence on the 
site of both a designated Grade II Listed Building (with associated curtilage structures) 
and the ancient monument, as significant designated heritage asset structures, are 
nevertheless material in the consideration of the application. 

2.2.13 In addition to the above, another material consideration in the matter is both the 
historical use of the site and the presence of an extant planning approval, for the 
redevelopment of the site as effectively a holiday complex, involving the conversion of 
existing buildings and significant new build, creating 22 No holiday apartments, 5 No 
holiday lodges, as approved under Application Ref No 16/0792, and in relation to which 
current application 19/0854 (Reserved by Condition) also now relates. 

2.3 Site Description 

Page  40



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

2.3.1 The extent of the site is outlined in red on the site location plan submitted with the 
Applications. The site, located approximately 5 miles south-east of Penrith and is 
located within the linear “sporadic” settlement of Clifton Dykes and to the north of the 
hamlet of Melkinthorpe. 

2.3.2 The essentially flat and broadly triangular site area extends to approximately 1.5 ha 
and includes a range of old and newer buildings and infrastructure associated with its 
previous uses. 

2.3.3 The site is accessed using an existing splayed vehicular access directly onto the public 
highway (C3047) Penrith to Cliburn road, which, together with a linear stands of mature 
trees, runs along the northeast boundary of the site. A dismantled railway trackbed, 
again with trees to the boundary (Penrith to Barnard Castle) runs along the southern 
edge of the site. Beyond the access, the site includes a mixture of both modern and 
historic buildings, as designated Grade II and ancient monument designated heritage 
assets and infrastructure, related to its early use as a pottery and more modern 
buildings associated with its later uses including as a visitor centre and an animal 
sanctuary. 

2.3.4 Beyond the site to the north is the separate detached dwelling, Pottery House, to the 
northeast and east of the site is Wetheriggs Road (C 3047 Highway), and in all other 
directions lies open agricultural countryside. 

2.3.5 The site is located entirely within Flood Zone 1. Surface water and foul water continue 
to discharge to the existing infrastructure on the site. There are no footpaths through or 
near to the site that could be affected by the proposal. There are no conservation areas 
near to the site. 

2.3.6 The site contains both a scheduled ancient monument (Old Kiln & settlement pond) 
and a listed building (The Grade II Pottery and Kiln). Both structures relate to the 
historic use of the site and particularly the its early production of bricks, tiles and pipes 
made from local clay. (A separate associated Listed Building submission (19/0638) 
relates to these aspects of the submission. 

2.3.7 The scheduled monument ‘The Old Kiln’, is listed under entry number 1007120 and 
described as being in “generally unsatisfactory with major local listed problems”. 

2.3.8 The listed building ‘Wetheriggs Pottery’ is Grade II listed and listed under entry number 
1145365 as per the listing description set out below: 

“Kiln, workshops, drying shed, kiln room, steam house and blunger. Built 1855 as a 
brick and tileworks for the Brougham estate. Red brick walls, under pantile roofs with 
stone and brick chimney stacks. Single-storey buildings arranged in U-shape around a 
small courtyard, with attached steam house and blunger. Bee-hive kiln is within square 
brick building with plank doors. Adjoining long workshops have plank doors and 
casement windows. Right-angled range is divided into open sided drying shed and 
enclosed kiln room. Rear steam house has plank doors and round-arched casement 
windows; tall square chimney stack. Adjoining blunger is a circular brick-lined pit with 
central pivoted paddle for mixing clay and water, powered by the steam engine in the 
steam house. A working pottery which continued using old methods of production until 
the mid C20th. Now reopened as a working pottery, to which the public are admitted, 
preserving original machinery and traditional designs, but electrically fired kiln. See 
guidebook, Wetheriggs Country Pottery, 1984. The present shop and house are not of 
special interest.” 

Page  41



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

2.3.9 The site is classified as brownfield land on Eden District Council’s (the Council) 
Brownfield Land Register under reference 17/CDY/0146. 

3. Consultees 

3.1 Statutory Consultees 

Consultee Response 

Highway and LLF Authority No objection subject to conditions. 

United Utilities Acceptable in principle. 

Environment Agency No objection subject to informative comment. 

Historic England No objection on heritage grounds (and) consider the 
application meets the requirements of the NPPF, in 
particular paragraph numbers 189 and 192. 

Natural England No comments to make. 

County Archaeologist No objection subject to condition 

3.2 Discretionary Consultees 

Consultee Response  

Environmental Health No objection subject to condition. 

Housing Officer Question whether the site complies with locational 
housing strategy. 

Policy Officer Question whether the site complies with locational 
housing strategy. 

Conservation Officer Broadly supportive in principle. Alternative design 
and cladding solutions are suggested with regard to 
the design detail of proposed unit on Plot “C”.  

Arboricultural Officer No objection subject to condition. 

4.  Parish Council 

 Please Tick as Appropriate 

Parish Council 
Support Object No Response 

No View 
Expressed 

Clifton Parish 
Council 

 
 

  

4.1 The Parish Council response is as follows: 

Clifton Parish Council – Object 

The proposed development is located within a ‘Smaller Village and Hamlet’ on 
previously developed land and can neither be considered infill nor rounding off. 
Therefore, this development does not comply with Policy LS1 and Policy HS2 of the 
Eden Local Plan 2014 - 2032. 

Concerns over dramatically changing a heritage site. 

Increase traffic on a road which has issues. 

Site egress not designed for increased traffic – dangerous junction. 

Page  42



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

CPC would like to speak if this application goes to the Planning Committee and request 
that Cllr Ian Chambers (EDC) represents CPC. 

5. Representations 

5.1 Letters of consultation were sent to nearby neighbours and a site notice was posted on 
the 6 September 2019. 

No of Neighbours Consulted 1 No of letters of support  

No of Representations Received  No of neutral representations  

No of objection letters    

6. Relevant Planning History 

Application No Description Outcome 

04/0151 Change of use of existing bistro to 
ancillary residential; existing café to craft 
workshop and retail; and existing shop to 
café/bistro. 

Approved – 31 
March 2004. 

16/0792 Development for holiday use including 
the restoration of the existing grade II 
listed beehive kiln, associated drying 
sheds and workshops adjoining the kiln 
as well as the existing engine room. 
Conversion of existing buildings and new 
build creating 22 No holiday apartments, 
5 No holiday lodges, swimming pool, 
communal building (inclusive of site 
manager’s apartment) and associated car 
park and landscaping.  Demolition of 
former café building, and numerous 
outbuildings identified on the proposed 
site plan drawing. 

Approved - 3 
February 2017 

6.1 It is to be noted that application Ref No 16/0792, involving the redevelopment of the 
site essentially as a Holiday Complex for 27 holiday let dwellings, plus one manager’s 
apartment, and importantly which remains extant. 

7. Policy Context 

7.1 Development Plan 

Eden Local Plan 2014-2032 

 LS1 “Locational Strategy” 

 DEV1 “General Approach to New Development” 

 DEV2 “Water Management and Flood Risk” 

 DEV3 “Transport, Accessibility and Rights of Way” 

 DEV4 “Infrastructure and Implementation” 

 DEV5 “Design of New Development” 

 RUR3 “Re-use of Redundant Buildings in Rural Areas”  

 RUR4 “Employment Development and Farm Diversification in Rural Areas” 

Page  43



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 EC4 “Tourism Accommodation and Facilities” 

 ENV1 “Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment, Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity” 

 ENV2 “Protection and Enhancement of Landscapes and Trees” 

 ENV3 “The North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty” 

 ENV9 “Other forms of Pollution” 

Supplementary Planning Documents: 

“Housing” Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

7.2 Other Material Considerations 

National Planning Policy Framework: 

 Chapter 2 Achieving sustainable development 
 Chapter 5 Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

 Chapter 12 Achieving well-designed places 

 Chapter 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 Chapter 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment (paras 68, 78, 189 
and 192.) 

7.2.1 The overriding theme of the National Planning Policy Framework (NNPF) is to apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.  Furthermore, the NPPF seeks to 
ensure that developments respond to local character and add to the overall quality of 
the area. 

 Appeal Decision - 3204421 

7.3 The policies detailed above are the most relevant policies relating to this application. 

8. Planning Assessment 

8.1 Key/Main Planning Issues 

 Principle 

 Historic Fabric and long term well being 

 Character and Amenity 

 Landscape, Nature and Visual Impacts 

 Access and Highways 

8.2 Principle 

8.2.1 Policy LS1 “Locational Strategy” of the adopted Eden Local Plan sets out the locational 
strategy for new development within the District.  Within this policy, Clifton Dykes is 
identified as a “Smaller Village or Hamlet” whereby new development will be restricted 
to “infilling”, “rounding off” or the re-use of existing buildings, subject to high quality 
design. 

8.2.2 Within the adopted Local Plan, there are no boundaries to identify and define the 
extent of the “Small Village or Hamlet”. 

8.2.3 Policy HS2 “Housing in the Smaller Villages and Hamlets” requires that new 
development within settlements is subject to three criteria: 

 - that the development constitutes either “infilling” or “rounding off”, 

 - dwellings are limited to 150m” gross internal floorspace, and 

 - new dwellings on greenfield land are restricted to local occupancy 

Page  44



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.2.4 The development plan does not define the settlement limit to or boundary of Clifton 
Dykes, but the application site: 

 - sits within a cluster of existing buildings and structures, 

 - is brownfield, 

 - is well defined, and as a triangular piece of land has three strong defined boundaries: 

 - by the embankment and trackbed of a former railway line, to the south 

 - the public highway (C3047) Penrith to Cliburn road, to the east and 

 - the existing grounds and residential curtilage of the separate, but immediately 
adjacent Pottery House, to the north-west. 

8.2.5 Clifton Dykes is a hamlet (with no distinct core or central built form) being somewhat 
more loosely spread out “sporadic” and dispersed (with large incursions of otherwise 
undeveloped open agricultural countryside featuring significantly) than other similar 
such designated settlement in the District.  It is however designated as such, and 
considered that in the context of this designation and this locality that the former 
pottery site of “Wetheriggs”, though not central, must therefore represent one of the 
few significant “clusters” of built form and development note in the vicinity that sensibly 
allow the “Small Village and Hamlet” designation to apply. 

8.2.6 With the above consideration applying, its historical use and focal point, and given the 
existing brownfield sites evident existing and robust, well-defined and strong 
boundaries, it is considered, for those reasons, that the application site both is, and 
does therefore reasonably constitute a “rounding off” site, within the terms and 
provisions of the hamlets designation and the adopted Plan Policy HS2 “Smaller 
Villages and Hamlets”. 

8.2.7 Policy HS2 also requires that, in such locations, that dwellings are limited to 150m” 
gross internal floorspace, to keep such dwellings affordable for local people.  The 
present application seeks approval for the creation 5 new dwellings plus the conversion 
of the existing “Beehive” Kiln into a further dwelling. The proposal would therefore be 
for and result in the creation of six “unrestricted occupancy dwellings” in total.   

8.2.8 However Policy HS2 also confirms that local occupancy restrictions will not be applied 
where suitable housing comes forward on previously developed “Brownfield” land and 
that houses will not be restricted to 150sq.m gross internal floorspace. 

8.2.9 The site is classified as brownfield land on Eden District Council’s (the Council) 
Brownfield Land Register under reference 17/CDY/0146. 

8.2.10 Planning appeal reference 3204421 at Midtown Farm, Clifton, confirmed that the 
absence of a local occupancy restriction allows a site to be sold on the open market 
and that therefore it is unnecessary to restrict the floorspace to keep the properties 
affordable as they are no longer restricted to local people. 

 Other Material Considerations: 

8.2.11 NPPF para 68 (c) confirms that local planning authorities should “support the 
development of windfall sites through their policies and decisions – giving great weight 
to the benefits of using suitable sites within existing settlements for new homes” 

8.2.12 The NPPF supports the provision of new housing in sustainable locations and requires 
new housing to be located where it will enhance and maintain the vitality of rural 
communities (para 78). The NPPF also recognises that new housing in smaller 

Page  45



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

settlements may support services in a village nearby (para 78). Under section 11 
‘Making effective use of land’ the NPPF continues to support “as much as use as 
possible of previously-developed or ‘brownfield’ land.” Specifically, para 118 (c) 
advises that [planning policies and decisions should] “give substantial weight to the 
value of using suitable brownfield land within settlements for new homes and other 
identified needs and support appropriate opportunities to remediate despoiled, 
degraded, derelict, contaminated or unstable land.”  It is accepted that the site in 
question, as a rundown brownfield site, readily complies in this aspect with the above 
(see the BLRR below). 

8.2.13 Para 119 confirms that “Local planning authorities, and other plan-making bodies, 
should take a proactive role in identifying and helping to bring forward land that may be 
suitable for meeting development needs, including suitable sites on brownfield 
registers”. 

 Brownfield Land Register (BLRR) 

8.2.14 The Site is on the Council’s Brownfield Land Register and therefore, in accordance 
with the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Register) Regulations 2017 (the 
BLRR) and PPG, the Council already considers the site to be appropriate for 
residential development. Taking into account the provisions of regulations 4 (and 5) of 
the BLRR it is considered that the Council has already assessed the site as being 
suitable (b), available (c), and achievable (d) for a residential development. 

 Lawful Use/Fallback Position 

8.2.15 It is to be noted that there are a number of fall back positions – animal sanctuary, 
extant holiday development approval (16/0792) still relevant in relation to the sites use. 
Perhaps therefore of significance in terms of such site specific consideration does 
remain the previous use of the site as an animal sanctuary and based on the 
information available at this time, this continues to be the site’s ‘lawful use’. This use 
could be reinstated at any given time, so this represents the principle fallback position 
for the site. 

8.2.16 This unrestricted use brings with it potential adverse effects including unlimited traffic 
generation and significant impacts on the amenity of the area from the animals housed 
on the site to the associated infrastructure that would go with such a use. The 
residential property Pottery House abuts the boundary of the Site to the north and, 
according to submission detail, there were tensions between its residential use and the 
use of the site as an animal sanctuary. 

8.2.17 In addition, and perhaps more pertinently it should also be noted that an alternative 
fallback position exists and could be through the implementation of the extant planning 
permission (approved under application Ref No 16/0792) for a holiday use, which 
included the creation of 22 holiday apartments, 5 holiday lodges a swimming pool, and 
a communal building – a significant level of development on the 1.5 ha Site.  Current 
application 19/0854 (Reserved by Condition) also now relates to the above. 

8.2.18 One complication with the above permission (16/0792) is that the approval is not 
restricted to holiday use by condition so, arguably in consideration, following the 
construction of the development and the implementation of the use, an application for 
the lawful use of the site for unrestricted residential development could be made. 
If implemented it is to be noted then that this potentially could result in a higher level 
and density of residential development on the site than that currently proposed. 

Page  46



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

8.2.19 The application site, and development proposed, and the principle for an unrestricted 
residential development (albeit of a smaller size and number (6) in this case) is thereby 
considered to comply with the provisions and criteria concerns of the relevant adopted 
locational plan policies LS1 “Locational Strategy” & HS2 “Housing in the Smaller 
Villages and Hamlets”. 

8.3 Historic Fabric and long term well being 

8.3.1 The site is brownfield land that has lain empty for a number of years which, given its 
poor appearance, state of repair and abandoned appearance, affects the amenity of 
the area.  The immediate benefits of the proposal include the tidying up of the site, the 
removal of the tired modern buildings dotted around the site, and their adverse visual 
impact, and the urgent investment in the historic fabric and settings of the core 
designated Historic Buildings and features. 

8.3.2 The long term benefits include preserving in perpetuity the Historic Buildings by 
securing a viable alternative use which will include public access to part of them. Whilst 
other schemes have come forward, most recently the sites use as an animal sanctuary, 
they have not been financially viable, and they have not resulted in the type of 
redevelopment nor the level of investment required by the Historic Buildings. 

8.3.3 The proposal will see the redevelopment of the Historic Buildings and their continued 
occupation and sympathetic maintenance as a dwelling. Given the level of investment 
and the type of use, it is unlikely that the buildings would ever default back from a 
dwelling to another use. A full assessment of the benefits of the proposal on the 
Historic Buildings was been included in the Heritage Statement submitted with the 
Applications (and is considered further in the associated Listed Building Consent 
submission Ref No 19/0638). In summary however, the Heritage Statement concludes 
that: 

 “ the historic structures, machinery and evidence of industrial processes within the 
historic buildings and landscape will be almost entirely conserved and preserved in-
situ. There is only very limited loss of fabric, such as part of the drying shelf in the kiln 
and drying shed, and most changes to fabric are limited to reversible stud wall 
partitions and replacement external floors with a modest new dining room extension”. It 
is considered that the benefits are extensive – both to the redevelopment of the 
Historic Buildings and their settings.” 

8.3.4 Under Local Plan policy ENV10 “The Historic Environment’ it is noted that the Council 
“will attach great weight to the conservation and enhancement of the historic 
environment heritage assets and their setting, which help make Eden a distinctive 
place”. We consider that the Proposal would enhance the historic environment in 
accordance with this policy. It would secure future, viable uses for the Historic 
Buildings and enhance their settings by tidying up the remainder of the site and siting 
suitably designed, high quality dwellings in a low density, well-landscaped setting. 

8.3.5 NPPF paragraph 192 confirms that “In determining applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of: a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and c) the desirability of 
new development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness.” 

8.3.6 The proposal includes the ultimate viable use as residential for the Historic Buildings – 
securing them for future generations. This will include the opportunity for public access 

Page  47



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

to the engine house to experience the site and understand its heritage significance. 
The proposal will also lead to the enhancement of the site – contributing positively to 
the local character and distinctiveness of the area. 

8.3.7 NPPF Paragraph 193 confirms that “when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be).” We do not consider this an ‘over-riding’ weight and understand that 
the significant benefits associated with the redevelopment will need to be set in the 
context of the overall planning balance. 

8.3.8 It is to be noted that the application as submitted (and as amended) has no objection 
and is supported with condition by the County Archaeologist as well as the Offices of 
Historic England.  The Councils own Conservation Officer, whilst broadly supportive of 
the scheme overall has recommended that the design solution (including cladding 
material) of any acceptable scheme regarding Plot C should respect both the hierarchy 
and setting of the immediately neighbouring listed pottery buildings as well as the 
scheduled ancient monument. Revised plans and details as submitted, which show for 
a stepped down dwelling, clad in locally evident and found natural stone and slate are 
considered to both effectively and sympathetically achieve this. 

8.3.9 Overall therefore, it is considered that the proposal would lead to a significant 
enhancement to the historic environment and would therefore be in accordance with 
the aims and criteria concerns of the Eden Local Plan Policy ENV10 “The Historic 
Environment” and section 16 of the NPPF. 

8.4 Character and Amenity 

8.4.1 The proposed site plan shows how the site will be laid out including the access 
arrangements, the plot boundaries and the location of the new dwellings and their 
garages, and the site infrastructure i.e. drainage. 

8.4.2 The Design and Access Statement submitted with the Applications sets out how the 
design of the site has developed and sets out the rationale behind the design of the 
scheme that will restore and preserve an ‘at risk’ heritage asset. The scheme will 
comprise of a traditional style housing development which will help maintain the wider 
site character setting as well as act as an enhancement to the local area, whilst 
respecting the existing associated historic character and natural environment. 

8.4.3 With regards to design, the overall external appearance of the Historic Buildings will 
change very little otherwise. There will be significant improvements made to the 
structural integrity and the ‘putting right’ of historic interventions that have not stood the 
test of time. The removal of the modern buildings to the immediate southeast of the 
Historic Buildings will result in a significant improvement to their setting. (A full 
schedule of works proposed for the Historic Buildings is included with the Applications, 
and an assessment of the changes is included with the Heritage Statement.) 

8.4.4 The remainder of the site will be subject to the development of five new dwellings. Four 
of these will address and their principle elevations will face the main (C3047) Road with 
the remaining unit sited to the rear (west) of the Site. The houses (as amended) have 
been sensitively designed taking into account both the historic significance, hierarchy 
of the site and the character of the area. The redevelopment as now proposed is 
considered to be low density, appropriate to the site and its location and importantly the 
key views into and out from the Historic Buildings will be maintained. It is also material 
at this point to bear in mind the nature, density and design of the scale of development 

Page  48



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

previously approved in the still extant holiday complex chalet and lodge approval, 
granted under previous application Ref No 16/0792. 

8.4.5 With regards to layout and design it is therefore considered that the proposal therefore 
reasonably complies with the relevant aims and criteria concerns of the adopted Eden 
Local Plan Policy DEV5 “Design of New Development” and paragraph 127 of the NPPF 
which require good design. 

8.5 Landscape, Nature and Visual Impacts 

8.5.1 The site is brownfield land with various levels of previous development across it. Some 
parts of the site contain buildings with much of the surface being crushed/stone 
hardstanding. There are few areas of the site that have not been developed to some 
extent in the past. There are no sensitive habitats on or near the site that could be 
affected by the Proposal. There are a number of trees throughout the site which are not 
subject to any specific protection.  The Councils Arboriculturalist has confirmed that, on 
the basis of the supplementary tree report submitted that there are no objections in this 
aspect to the proposal. 

8.5.2 The ecological appraisal that accompanies the Applications confirms that the plant 
species assemblages recorded at the site are all common in the local area and are 
considered of low ecological value. The appraisal confirms that domestic gardens and 
landscaped open space will offer equal or greater ecological value. The appraisal 
recorded a low number of bat species foraging over the site though no bats were 
recorded roosting on or near the site. The appraisal recorded the potential for birds to 
nest in the scrub between March and September. Most notably, the appraisal recorded 
a small population of great crested newts in the only pond on the Site – located 
southwest of the Historic Buildings. 

8.5.3 The appraisal includes mitigation/recommendations under section 7 and a condition 
requiring the proposal to be carried out in accordance with this 
mitigation/recommendation will ensure that the natural environment will be preserved 
and, in time, enhanced. The appraisal confirms that a development licence will be 
applied for from Natural England prior to any ground works commencing due to the 
presence of great crested newts.  The offices of Natural England have confirmed that 
they have no objection to the development proposed on the basis of the detail as 
submitted. 

8.5.4 Therefore, and subject to the approval and implementation of the works in accordance 
with the development licence, and ensuring that the mitigation/recommendations are 
adopted by the developer, nothing more than negligible harm to the natural 
environment has been identified as a result of the proposal. It is considered that in time 
the ecology of the site will be enhanced through the removal of the derelict 
buildings/extensive areas of hardstanding, and their replacement with landscaped 
residential gardens (inc trees) and improved boundary treatments (again inc trees).  In 
this aspect, the Councils Arboriculturalist has recommended a condition requiring a 
landscaping scheme to be submitted for written approval (prior to occupancy) and a 
further condition requiring replacement of any of the trees that either die or are 
removed for a period of ten years post planting. 

8.5.5 The above will enable the site to continue to sit comfortably in its landscape setting, 
thereby ensuring minimal adverse impact on the areas existing character, and will 
thereby it is considered enable the application and development proposed to accord 
with the aims and criteria concerns of the relevant Local Plan policies ENV1 “Protection 

Page  49



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

and Enhancement of the Natural Environment, Biodiversity and Geodiversity” and 
ENV2 “Protection and Enhancements of Landscapes and Trees” and paragraphs 170 
& 175 of the NPPF which all seek to conserve or enhance the natural environment 
including protected species, trees and the landscape. 

8.6 Access, Highways and Drainage 

8.6.1 Access to the site, as amended, is to be taken using an upgraded existing access for 
all five of the new builds and a new proposed access to serve the converted Historic 
Buildings.  Each of the proposed plots includes ample parking and turning. All five of 
the new builds have double garages with extensive parking and turning within their 
curtilage. The internal road has been designed to accommodate access and turning for 
refuse vehicles sufficient to allow them to leave the site in a forward gear. 

8.6.2 Wetheriggs (Penrith-Bolton) Road is restricted to 40mph along the entire frontage of 
the site and consequently visibility onto Wetheriggs Road is good in both directions at 
both the upgraded access and the new access. The existing access has an 
unrestricted use associated with the lawful use and an approved use in association 
with the extant holiday use permission. The proposal would result in significantly less 
movements than these fallback positions. 

8.6.3 The site is in flood zone 1 and therefore not at risk of flooding. As set out in the 
Drainage Strategy submitted with the Applications, surface water will be attenuated on-
site prior to it being discharged to a nearby watercourse along the western edge of the 
Site. Foul water will be discharged to a shared package treatment plant. Both the 
United Utilities and the Environment Agency have confirmed that they have no 
objection to the development as proposed. 

8.6.4 Given the above, and as the site will not be at risk of flooding and the proposal will not 
increase the risk of flooding in accordance with Local Plan policies DEV2 “Water 
Management and Flood Risk” and DEV4 “Infrastructure and Implementation” and 
paragraph 163 of the NPPF. 

8.6.5 The Cumbria County Council (County Highways & Lead Local Flood Authority) have 
confirmed that, subject to standard conditions, that they too have no objection to the 
proposed scheme. 

8.6.6 It is considered therefore that the proposal hereby accords with Local Plan Policy 
DEV3 “Transport, Accessibility and Rights of Way” and Paragraph 108 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework which all consider transport and access.  In addition, the 
siting and location of the new access as is considered will have limited impact on the 
character and setting of the existing Pottery and associated curtilage listed buildings, 
and again in this aspect is considered will be acceptable in the context of the relevant 
aims and criteria concerns of the adopted Eden Local Plan Policy DEV3 “Transport, 
Accessibility and Rights of Way”. 

9. Implications 

9.1 Legal Implications 

9.1.1 The following matters have been considered but no issues are judged to arise. 

9.2 Equality and Diversity 

9.2.1 The Council must have regard to the elimination of unlawful discrimination and 
harassment, and the promotion of equality under the Equality Act 2010. 

9.3 Environment 

Page  50



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

9.3.1 The Council must have due regard to conserving bio-diversity under the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

9.4 Crime and Disorder 

9.4.1 Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must have regard to the need to 
reduce crime and disorder in exercising any of its functions. 

9.5 Human Rights 

9.5.1 In determining applications, the Council must ensure that all parties get a fair hearing 
in compliance with the provisions of Article 6 under the European Convention on 
Human Rights, as now embodied in UK law in the Human Rights Act 1998. 

10. Conclusion 

10.1 Overall, Full planning permission, listed building consent and scheduled monument 
consent are sought for the redevelopment of Wetheriggs Pottery including the erection 
of five new dwellings and the conversion of the listed building and scheduled 
monument to create an additional sixth dwelling, and all associated infrastructure. This 
application seeks Full Detail approval only, with the Listed Building Consent being 
sought under separate, but associated application Ref No 19/0638. Scheduled 
Monument Consent is decided by the Department for Culture Media and Sport (DCMS)  

10.2 Whilst the market housing is not proposed as ‘enabling development’ in its true sense, 
it will none-the-less enable both the successful and sensitive redevelopment of the 
Historic Buildings in their long term and beneficial interest. 

10.3 The conversion of these buildings will not go ahead without some form of financial 
stimulation. The costs would be prohibitive, as has been experienced with the evident 
and ongoing sad decline of the present site and infrastructure. 

10.4 It is accepted that there are significant benefits to the proposal in the short, medium 
and long terms including the investment in the Historic Buildings, the tidying up of and 
re-use of the wider brownfield site, the economic/social stimulation of creating 5 new 
dwellings and allowing public access to the engine room on open days. All of these 
benefits must be weighed against any harm which, given the above considerations, is 
believed to be limited. 

10.5 Were approval of this development to be secured, and implementation begun, it would 
thereby supersede the previously approved (holiday lodge/chalet) development 
(16/0792), as a present fall-back which would be physically incompatible to jointly 
and/or separately erect and undertake at the same time on site. The current proposal 
would be a better and improved scheme and development. 

10.6 Contrary to the view of the Parish Council, and for the reasons and considerations as 
outlined, the site being held to be within the Smaller/Village hamlet of Clifton Dykes 
and where the principle of new dwellings is supported by the Local Plan is by virtue of 
its location and strong defensible boundaries practicably capable of being considered 
as a “rounding off” site. This is in accordance with, and thereby readily accords, in this 
particular location and with the character of this particularly designated small village 
and hamlet, with the aims and policies of adopted Eden Local Plan Policies LS1 
“Locational Strategy” and HS2 “Housing in the Smaller Villages and Hamlets”. 

10.7 Outside of the ‘in principle’ support for new dwellings in Smaller Villages/Hamlets, there 
is also significant planning policy support for approving proposals which will result in 

Page  51



Agenda Item 2 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

investment to heritage assets and specifically secure a viable use for the them – 
preserving them for future generations. 

10.8 The alternative to the proposal is that the site remains undeveloped, the Historic 
Buildings continue to fall into a state of disrepair and the associated present negative 
impact of and on the character and amenity of the area continues. 

10.9 Overall the proposed scheme, as amended, will help achieve the long term wellbeing 
and re-use of the existing former Pottery buildings as designated heritage assets and, 
through considered and sympathetic siting, scale, cladding and design, ensure that 
their setting together with that of the associated new residential development will both 
respect as well as enhance the historic environment and character of the site overall. 

10.10 For the above reasons the application is recommended to be approved. 

Oliver Shimell 
Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

 

 
 

Background Papers: Planning Files 19/0637 and 19/0638 

Checked by or on behalf of the Monitoring Officer  

Page  52



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Date of Committee: 16 January 2020 

Planning Application No: 19/0638 Date Received : 3 September 2019 

OS Grid Ref: NY 355453, 
526282 

Expiry Date : 30 October 2019 

Parish: Clifton Ward : Eamont 

Application Type: Listed Building Consent 

Proposal: Listed Building Consent for the redevelopment of the Beehive 
Kiln, associated drying sheds, workshops and engine rooms 
to a dwelling and the demolition of adjoining buildings and 
structures (as amended). 

Location: Wetheriggs Pottery, Clifton Dykes, Penrith 

Applicant: Stoneswood Developments Ltd 

Agent: Addis Town Planning Ltd 

Case Officer: Mr D Cox 

Reason for Referral: Officer recommendation is contrary to that of the Parish 
Council. 

 

 

Page  53



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 

 

Page  54



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

 

1. Recommendation 

It is recommended that Listed Building Consent be granted subject to the following 
additional conditions: 

Time Limit for Commencement 

1. The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 

Reason: In order to comply with the provisions of Section 18 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Approved Plans 

2. The development hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the plan 
application, submitted application detail, mitigation strategies and 
recommendations (including structural survey report, flood risk assessment, 
heritage statement, ecological appraisal, drainage strategy and tree report) and 
plan drawings and supporting information (as amended) as hereby approved: 

i. Location plan Drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 001 as dated received by the Local 
Planning Authority on the 3 September 2019. 

ii. Amended proposed site plan and layout Drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 004 C as 
dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 19 November 2019. 

iii. Amended proposed House Type (Plot C), plan drawings Ref Nos 317 (02) 500 
A House Type C, Proposed Floor Plans House Type C 317 (02) 501a, 
Proposed elevations Type C 317 (02) 502A as dated received by the Local 
Planning Authority on the 4 December 2019. 

iv. Proposed access scheduling plan 19-0920 as dated received by the Local 
Planning Authority on the 20 September 2019. 

iv. Proposed floor plans, House Type A, plan drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 300 as 
dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 September 2019. 

v. Proposed elevations, House Type A, plan drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 301 as 
dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 September 2019. 

vi. Proposed floor plans, House Type B, plan drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 400 as 
dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 September 2019. 

vii. Proposed elevations, House Type B, plan drawing Ref No 317/01 (02) 401 as 
dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 September 2019. 

ix. Proposed plan and elevations, detached garage, plan drawing Ref No 317/01 
(02) 303 as dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 September 
2019. 

x. Kiln buildings and workshops, proposed floor layout, plan drawing Ref No 
317/01 (02) 200 as dated received by the Local Planning Authority on the 3 
September 2019. 

xi. Kiln buildings and workshops, demolitions and alterations layout, plan drawing 
Ref No 317/01 (02) 201 as dated received by the Local Planning Authority on 

Page  55



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

the 3 September 2019. 

xii. Kiln buildings and workshops, proposed elevations, plan drawing Ref Nos 
317/01 (02) 202 and 203 as dated received by the Local Planning Authority on 
the 3 September 2019. 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and to avoid any ambiguity as to 
what constitutes the permission. 

1. Prior to commencement of development on site the developer shall submit the 
following details for the agreement in writing by the Council as planning Authority. 

a. the method for underpinning the foundations to the two drying sheds, beehive 
kiln, steam engine house; method for underpinning brick piers of the 2nd 
drying shed; 

b. method for construction and location of a French drain around the drying shed; 

c. the location and installation of stainless steel ties proposed to the drying shed, 
beehive kiln, steam engine workshop and house, detached workshop; 

d. method and materials for installing a membrane and limecrete floor in the 
drying shed; 

e. the installation of a concrete pad stone to internal beam of 2nd drying shed; 

f. specification of lime mortar to be used in repointing of all buildings; 

g. details/materials of window refurbishments to 2nd drying shed, workshop and 
steam engine house, detached workshop; 

h. type and colour of slate to be used on the 2nd drying shed roof in replace of 
the corrugated sheeting. 

Reason: to ensure that repairs are carried out sympathetically using appropriate 
techniques and materials so that further harm to the historic buildings is prevented. 

2. Drawings and/or specifications for the installation of services including lighting, 
heating and waste pipes, into the pottery buildings shall be submitted to the LPA 
for approval in writing and thereafter the development shall be undertaken in 
accordance with the approved schemes. 

Reason: to ensure works will not cause detrimental harm to the historic fabric and 
features of the buildings 

3. Prior to the commencement of work onsite the developer shall provide full details 
of landscaping materials for the new access driveway for agreement in writing by 
the council and thereafter the development shall be undertaken in accordance with 
the approved schemes. 

Reason: To ensure works will not cause detrimental harm to the character and 
setting of the listed buildings. 

4. A mitigation strategy clearly outlining a) a list accompanied by photographs of the 
heritage features that will be retained in-situ and how this will be achieved, b) how 
the steam engine house will be maintained and made accessible to the public 
including access and day-to-day operation, shall be submitted to the LPA for 
approval prior to any works commencing on site and thereafter the development 
shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved schemes. 

Reason: to ensure the historic fabric and features of the buildings are 

Page  56



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

appropriately retained and preserved for future interpretation. 

5. A Level 3 Building record shall be produced in line with Historic England guidance 
‘Understanding Historic Buildings’ and submitted to the LPA for approval prior to 
any works commencing on site. 

Reason: To record and advance our understanding of the significance of the 
heritage assets and to make this evidence publically accessible in accordance with 
para.199 of the NPPF 2019. 

2. Proposal and Site Description 

2.1 Proposal 

2.1.1 Listed Building Consent (in conjunction with an associated Full Application Detail 
Submission, Ref No 19/0637) is being sought for the change of use of the beehive kiln, 
associated drying sheds, workshops and engine room to a dwelling, the demolition of 
adjoining buildings and structures and (as part of the associated full application 
submission) the construction of five new detached dwellings, reconfiguration of the 
existing access and the formation of a new access and associated operations including 
parking and turning areas, landscaping and foul and surface water drainage 
arrangements (as amended). 

2.1.2 The proposal overall (applications Ref Nos 10/0637 & 0638) includes three different 
consenting processes – planning permission (for works to the listed building/scheduled 
monument and the wider redevelopment of the Site), listed building consent (for the 
works to the listed building including any curtilage listed structures and attached 
modern buildings) and scheduled monument consent (for works to the scheduled 
monument). 

2.1.3 The applications for the planning permission and listed building consent have been 
made to the Council as local planning authority. The application for scheduled 
monument consent has been made to Historic England who determine such 
applications on behalf of the Department for Culture, Media and Sport. 

2.1.4 A broad range of documents have been prepared in support of the applications and 
these have been listed below. It is not the purpose of this report to repeat the content 
of the supporting documents, simply to summarise their findings and set them against 
the relevant planning policies and material considerations. 

2.1.5 The proposed site plan shows how the site will appear once the development is 
complete i.e. five new build dwellings (plots A, C (as amended), D, E and F) and on 
plot B – the converted listed building/scheduled monument (the Historic Buildings). The 
new dwellings will all be served from a reconfigured existing access, whilst the Historic 
Buildings will be served by a new access directly onto Cliburn Road. 

2.1.6 Each new dwelling will stand in a generous plot with shared drainage infrastructure 
across the site including an upgraded package treatment plant. 

2.1.7 The new dwellings on plots C (as amended), D, E, and F are broadly of the same 
design with minor plot variances including handling and mirroring to suit the plot. Their 
design is traditional in appearance and based around a polite Georgian style, and 
utilises both traditional stone and natural slate cladding. The new dwelling on plot A at 
the farthest (western) end of the site, and whilst recognising and supporting the overall 
theme, adopts a slightly different design approach - being more modern in appearance 

Page  57



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

whilst again taking design leads from the simplicity of the traditional buildings on the 
site. 

2.1.8 Relevant to the Listed Building consent application, the Historic Buildings themselves 
are in an extremely poor state of disrepair and require significant investment to their 
fabric to preserve their character and appearance. Included with the conversion will be 
significant strengthening works in many cases to put right historic interventions that 
have not stood the test of time. 

2.1.9 The modern buildings to the southeast of the Historic Buildings and around the wider 
site are to be demolished and removed. They are not considered suitable for 
conversion and, in many cases, significantly detract from the character of the site and 
particularly the settings of the Historic Buildings. 

2.1.10 Surface water would be attenuated and then discharged to the existing watercourse to 
the west of the Site. Foul water would be discharged to the existing package treatment 
plant prior to discharge to the surface water system. 

2.1.11 The submission is accompanied by the following: 

• Heritage Statement; 

• Design and Access Statement; 

• Repair Schedule; 

• Flood Risk Assessment; 

• Drainage Strategy; 

• Phase 1 Desk Study; 

• Structural Survey; 

• Ecological Appraisal; and 

• Planning Drawings (as amended). 

2.2 Site Description 

2.2.1 The extent of the site is outlined in red on the site location plan submitted with the 
applications. The site, located approximately 5 miles south-east of Penrith and is 
located within the linear settlement of Clifton Dykes and to the north of the hamlet of 
Melkinthorpe. The broadly flat triangular site area extends to approximately 1.5 ha and 
includes a range of buildings and infrastructure associated with its previous uses. 

2.2.2 The site is accessed using an existing splayed vehicular access directly onto the public 
highway (C3047) Penrith to Cliburn road, which, together with a linear stand of mature 
trees, runs along the northeast boundary of the site. A dismantled railway trackbed 
(Penrith to Barnard Castle) runs along the southern edge of the site. Beyond the 
access, the site includes a mixture of historic buildings, as designated Grade II and 
ancient monument designated heritage assets and various infrastructure related to its 
early use as a pottery, and more modern buildings associated with its later uses 
including as a visitor centre and an animal sanctuary. 

2.2.3 Beyond the site to the north is the separate Pottery House, to the northeast and east of 
the site is Wetheriggs Road (Highway), and in all other directions lies open 
countryside. 

2.2.4 The site is located entirely within Flood Zone 1. Surface water and foul water continue 
to discharge to the existing infrastructure on the site. There are no footpaths through or 

Page  58



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

near to the site that could be affected by the proposal. There are no conservation areas 
near to the site. 

2.2.5 The site contains both a scheduled monument and a listed building. Both structures 
relate to the historic use of the site and particularly the its early production of bricks, 
tiles and pipes made from local clay. (A separate associated Full Application 
submission (19/0637) relates to these aspects of the submission. 

2.2.6 The scheduled monument ‘The Old Kiln’, is listed under entry number 1007120 and is 
described as being in “generally unsatisfactory with major local listed problems”. 

2.2.7 The listed building ‘Wetheriggs Pottery’ is Grade II listed and listed under entry number 
1145365 as per the listing description set out below: 

“Kiln, workshops, drying shed, kiln room, steam house and blunger.  1855 as a brick 
and tileworks for the Brougham estate.  Red brick walls, under pantile roofs with stone 
and brick chimney stacks.  Single-storey buildings arranged in U-shape around a small 
courtyard, with attached steam house and blunger.  Bee-hive kiln is within square brick 
building with plank doors.  Adjoining long workshops have plank doors and casement 
windows.  Right-angled range is divided into open sided drying shed and enclosed kiln 
room.  Rear steam house has plank doors and round-arched casement windows; tall 
square chimney stack.  Adjoining blunger is a circular brick-lined pit with central pivoted 
paddle for mixing clay and water, powered by the steam engine in the steam house.  A 
working pottery which continued using old methods of production until the mid C20.  
Now reopened as a working pottery, to which the public are admitted, preserving 
original machinery and traditional designs, but electrically fired kiln.  See guidebook, 
Wetheriggs Country Pottery, 1984.  The present shop and house are not of special 
interest.” 

2.2.8 Historical Background 

2.2.9 Wetheriggs Pottery is located south of Penrith, and developed on a site belonging to 
the Brougham Estate. It comprises of a U-shaped range of single storey mid-19th 
century (1855) buildings associated to its use as a brick and tiles work and a pottery. 
The surviving buildings include: a beehive kiln, drying shed, workshops, steam house 
and a blunger. In addition there are modern timber buildings which were erected when 
the site was formerly used as an animal welfare and conservation centre and visitor 
attraction with museum and cafe. 

2.2.10 The development was originally established as a tilery using local clay from Clifton 
Dykes to produce pipes for land drains. Relatively little is known of these early years 
but the development seems to have consisted of a workers house and two Newcastle-
type kilns. After the Brick Tax was lifted in 1850 the site became a combined brick and 
tile works. A beehive kiln was erected c.1860s for the production of glazed 
earthenware pottery.  This was a late date for the establishment of a new country 
pottery and many pre-industrial potteries in England were actually closing by this 
period. 

2.2.11 The Eden Valley railway was constructed in 1860 running alongside the tilery/pottery 
and in 1863 a siding was built into the works allowing the business to use the railway 
for bringing in coal and distributing its products.  The railway closed in 1962 and the 
railway line and siding have been dismantled but its former position is marked by a 
raised bank through the southern area of the site. 

2.2.12 Coal was used to power the original steam engine that drove the pottery machinery 
(potter’s wheel, washmill and pugmill) but in 1928 it was replaced by a petrol engine. 

Page  59



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

Following the closure of the railway, the coal fired kiln was no-longer economic to run 
and electric powered kilns were installed. The loss of the railway also affected the 
distribution of products and spelled the end of the use of Wetheriggs as a local coal 
depot, which had been an important sideline for the operation. The original steam 
engine was restored by Fred Dibnah in 1990s reviving Wetheriggs as the only steam 
powered pottery in the country.  However production ceased in 2008. 

 Drying Shed 

2.2.13 The drying shed is a mid-19th century building with c.1900 extension to its western end 
and adjoins the beehive kiln building. It is constructed of red brick in an English Garden 
wall bond with buttress supports and a grey slate roof. The building retains an original 
plank door, some late 20th century windows, original chimney with flue, a brick 
inscribed with the date 12th June 1864 (possibly relating to the pottery), and a brick 
sett and stone flag floor that have patched concrete repairs. In the late 20th century the 
building became used as a museum and the drying bench was repaired along with the 
introduction of timber structures to stabilise the roof. 

 Beehive Kiln 

2.2.14 The original beehive kiln was reportedly in a poor condition and rebuilt in 1913-14 by a 
local builder using the original brickwork (where possible) and iron rings but to a higher 
height. It is probable that the enclosing square brick building was also rebuilt at this 
time. The surviving building has a clay pantile roof and buttress supports to its north-
east wall. It features ventilation holes, timber plank doors, timber windows of varying 
dates, and a brick and stone paved floor. The brick kiln survives intact with its eight 
fireboxes. 

2.2.15 Photographs show the original Newcastle-type kilns for the production of tiles formerly 
stood to the east of the beehive kiln building but were demolished in the 1950s. 

 Drying Shed/Workshop 

2.2.16 The mid-19th century linear drying shed is constructed of brick with part slate/ part 
corrugated iron sheet roof. Old photographs show the west and east walls were 
originally open sided with brick piers but these were infilled with timber glazed panels in 
the late 20th century. Internally the building has been altered including the removal of a 
ceiling and the installation of a block dividing wall. 

2.2.17 A key feature of this building is a brick in the south wall adjacent to the chimney stack 
which bears the inscription ‘James Schofield May 1888’. 

 Steam Engine House and Attached Workshop 

2.2.18 The mid-19th century steam engine house is constructed of brick with a 1970s pantile 
roof. It features plank doors, arched casement windows with stone sills, and a tall stone 
chimney stack. Adjoined to the engine house is a workshop/manufacturing shed that 
contains remnants of drive belts probably from the potter’s wheel and other machinery. 
The building features windows with arched brick lintels. The dividing wall between the 
two buildings features blocked doorways. 

 Blunger, Settling Pans and Clay Pits 

2.2.19 A blunger is a circular brick-lined pit with pivoted paddle for mixing clay and water. The 
pit and the gearing of the blunger survive but the timber paddle appears to have been 
renewed at some point. Water was fed into the blunger from a reservoir at the south-
west end of the site which was filled by a piped water supply from a nearby spring. The 

Page  60



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

reservoir is depicted on the earliest 19th century maps along with settling pans that are 
in turn linked to the blunger via a concrete channel. Until the First World War there was 
also a ‘boiling pan’ at Wetheriggs that could dry clay quickly using heat from coal fired 
ducts. Historic maps also show the location of nearby clay extraction pits. 

2.2.20 Lord Brougham of Brougham Castle founded the tilery on his land at Whinnyrigg Farm 
to produce bricks and drain pipes for use on his estates. This coincided with the British 
Agricultural Revolution which increased demand for drains and agricultural 
improvements. The development of the railways created a consumer base and easier 
transport of materials and products. The association with the industrial and agricultural 
revolutions contributes to the historical value of the site. 

2.2.21 The tilery was initially run by a local man, Archibald Tweddle but in 1860 when the 
production of pottery began the lease was taken over by John Schofield and Margaret 
Thorburn from Newcastle. Census records tell us George and Jeremiah Schofield 
worked as potter throwers and their brother James was a fireman at the kiln.  The 
works can also be associated to the Muir family who managed the business for a short 
period at the end of the 19th century before it passed back to the Schofield family. The 
20th century saw considerable change in the owners of the site. In 1932 the Brougham 
Estate was broken up and the Schofield and Thorburn family bought the property. In 
1973 Harold Thorburn sold the pottery to Jonathan Snell, Dorothy Ramsey and Hans 
Ullrich. They subsequently sold it to Peter Strong from Clapham Pottery in North 
Yorkshire and in turn to a local businessman Bill Dodd. 

2.2.22 The decline of earthenware pottery began in the 19th century and the 20th century saw 
a change in the business to focus on tourism. The pottery produced horticultural and 
decorated ware which was displayed at craft shows around the country and as a result 
attracted a wider customer base.  In the 1980s the pottery became a tourist attraction 
with a café and pottery classes being run. A museum, shop and toilet block was added 
in 1990s.  Pottery production finally ceased at Wetheriggs in 2008. In 2006 Wetheriggs 
Animal Rescue and Conservation Centre opened which was rebranded to Wetheriggs 
Zoo and Animal Sanctuary in 2011. The zoo relocated in 2014 leaving the Wetheriggs 
site and buildings unoccupied.  The economic development and change of use of the 
site contributes to its historical and communal value. 

2.2.23 As noted above, the tourism aspect of the craft shows, visitor attraction and zoo 
contribute to the communal value of the site along with those who may have worked 
there. 

2.2.24 The site also holds communal value for those with an interest in industrial architecture, 
archaeology and pottery. 

 Significance 

2.2.25 The surviving buildings, structures and features are unique in the country and the 
relationship between them illustrates the industrial process at play on this pottery site. 
As such the site has high heritage value on a national scale. As a result the kiln, 
workshops, drying shed, steam house and blunger have been designated as grade II 
listed buildings and the old kiln and clay pit are designated as Scheduled Monuments. 
The late 20th/early 21st century buildings associated to the zoo, the poor condition of 
the historic buildings and disuse of the site are factors which have a negative impact on 
the significance of the historic site. 

2.2.26 The site is classed as brownfield land on Eden District Council’s (the Council) 
Brownfield Land Register under reference 17/CDY/0146. 

Page  61



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

3. Consultees 

3.1 Statutory Consultees 

Consultee Response 

Highway and LLF Authority No objection subject to conditions. 

Historic England No objection on heritage grounds (and) consider the 
application meets the requirements of the NPPF, in 
particular paragraph numbers 189 and 192. 

County Archaeologist No objection subject to condition. 

3.2 Discretionary Consultees 

Consultee Response 

Conservation Officer Broadly supportive in principle, subject to condition. 
Alternative design and cladding solutions are 
suggested with regard to the design detail of 
proposed unit on Plot “C”. 

4. Parish Council 

 Please Tick as Appropriate 

Parish Council 
Support Object No Response 

No View 
Expressed 

Clifton Parish 
Council 

 
 

  

4.1 The Parish Council response is as follows: 

Clifton Parish Council – Object 

The proposed development is located within a ‘Smaller Village and Hamlet’ on 
previously developed land and can neither be considered infill nor rounding off.  
Therefore, this development does not comply with Policy LS1 and Policy HS2 of the 
Eden Local Plan 2014 - 2032. 

Concerns over dramatically changing a heritage site. 

Increase traffic on a road which has issues. 

Site egress not designed for increased traffic – dangerous junction. 

CPC would like to speak if this application goes to the Planning Committee and request 
that Cllr Ian Chambers (EDC) represents CPC. 

5. Representations 

5.1 Letters of consultation were sent to nearby neighbours and a site notice was posted on 
the 6 September 2019. 

No of Neighbours Consulted 1 No of letters of support  

No of Representations Received  No of neutral representations  

No of objection letters    

Page  62



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

6. Relevant Planning History 

Application No Description Outcome 

04/0151 Change of use of existing bistro to 
ancillary residential; existing café to craft 
workshop and retail; and existing shop to 
café/bistro. 

Approved – 31 
March 2004. 

16/0792 Development for holiday use including 
the restoration of the existing grade II 
listed beehive kiln, associated drying 
sheds and workshops adjoining the kiln 
as well as the existing engine room. 
Conversion of existing buildings and new 
build creating 22 No holiday apartments, 
5 No holiday lodges, swimming pool, 
communal building (inclusive of site 
manager’s apartment) and associated car 
park and landscaping.  Demolition of 
former café building, and numerous 
outbuildings identified on the proposed 
site plan drawing. 

Approved - 3 
February 2017 

6.1 It is to be noted that application Ref No 16/0792, involving the redevelopment of the 
site essentially as a Holiday Complex for 27 holiday let dwellings, plus one manager’s 
apartment, and importantly which remains extant. 

7. Policy Context 

7.1 Development Plan 

Eden Local Plan 2014-2032 

 LS1 “Locational Strategy” 

 DEV1 “General Approach to New Development” 

 DEV2 “Water Management and Flood Risk” 

 DEV3 “Transport, Accessibility and Rights of Way” 

 DEV4 “Infrastructure and Implementation” 

 DEV5 “Design of New Development” 

 RUR3 “Re-use of Redundant Buildings in Rural Areas” 

 RUR4 “Employment Development and Farm Diversification in Rural Areas” 

 EC4 “Tourism Accommodation and Facilities” 

 ENV1 “Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment, Biodiversity and 
Geodiversity” 

 ENV2 “Protection and Enhancement of Landscapes and Trees” 

 ENV3 “The North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty” 

 ENV9 “Other forms of Pollution” 

Supplementary Planning Documents: 

“Housing” Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 

7.2 Other Material Considerations 

Page  63



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

National Planning Policy Framework: 

 Chapter 2 Achieving sustainable development 

 Chapter 12 Achieving well-designed places 

 Chapter 14 Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

 Chapter 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 Chapter 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment (paras 68, 78, 189 
and 192.) 

7.2.1 The overriding theme of the NPPF is to apply a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  The NPPF defines sustainable development as that which fulfils an 
economic, a social and an environmental role. In relation to supporting the rural 
economy, it is noted that developments should be supported which support rural 
tourism which respects the character of the countryside and are located in appropriate 
locations where identified needs are not met by existing facilities.  Furthermore, the 
NPPF seeks to ensure that developments respond to local character and add to the 
overall quality of the area. 

7.3 The policies detailed above are the most relevant policies relating to this application. 

8. Planning Assessment 

8.1 Key/Main Planning Issues 

 Historic Fabric and long term well being 

 Character and Amenity 

8.2 Historic Fabric and long term well being 

8.2.1 Impact Assessment is as follows and is based on relevant Conservation Officer 
comment, consideration and recommendation. 

 Proposed demolition of modern structures 

8.2.2 Two large modern structures plus a toilet block were constructed on the site when the 
animal rescue centre and later zoo was established at the end of the 20th century. 
Their demolition will not cause a loss of historic fabric and is considered to be a visual 
enhancement to the historic site. 

 Proposed repair of pottery buildings 

8.2.3 It is suggested that Prior to commencement of development on site the developer shall 
submit the following details for the agreement in writing by the Council as planning 
Authority and that no work shall commence until approval in writing has been granted. 

a. the method for underpinning the foundations to the two drying sheds, beehive kiln, 
steam engine house; method for underpinning brick piers of the 2nd drying shed; 

b. method for construction and location of a French drain around the drying shed; 

c. the location and installation of stainless steel ties proposed to the drying shed, 
beehive kiln, steam engine workshop and house, detached workshop; 

d. method and materials for installing a membrane and limecrete floor in the drying 
shed; 

e. the installation of a concrete pad stone to internal beam of 2nd drying shed; 

f. specification of lime mortar to be used in repointing of all buildings; 

Page  64



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

g. details/materials of window refurbishments to 2nd drying shed, workshop and 
steam engine house, detached workshop; 

h. type and colour of slate to be used on the 2nd drying shed roof in replace of the 
corrugated sheeting. 

 Reason - to ensure that repairs are carried out sympathetically using appropriate 
techniques and materials so that further harm to the historic buildings is prevented. 

 Proposed conversion of pottery buildings 

8.2.4  The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 s 66(1) requires a 
decision-maker, in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. 

 Paragraph 192 of the NPPF, 2019: In determining applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of: 

 the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets and 
putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation. 

 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF, 2019 states ‘when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 
given to the asset’s conservation. This is irrespective of whether the potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.’ 

 Paragraph 194 says ‘Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 
asset should require clear and convincing justification’. 

 Beehive Kiln 

8.2.5 The proposed development seeks to retain the building and bring it back into use as a 
kitchen as part of a domestic dwelling. The proposed change of use is considered to be 
acceptable with the brick kiln conserved as a unique feature. To enable the new use 
there are some changes proposed including: truncation of part of the drying shelf and 
flue; removal of the door into the adjoining drying shed; alteration of the 20th century 
window in the SE elevation into a door; replacement of the other remaining doors; and 
installation of three new roof lights on the rear roof slope facing the drying shed. 

8.2.6 The changes will result in moderate harm to the drying shelf which is a feature of 
special interest (partial removal of the drying shelf to create new door opening) 
however the feature will remain largely intact allowing its physical function and 
connection to the operation of the pottery to remain legible. The proposed removal and 
replacement of doors will result in minor harm to the historic fabric of the building. The 
alteration of the window into a door will also result in minor harm to the fabric of the 
building but the original layout of the building will remain legible. 

 Drying Shed 

8.2.7 The development proposes to erect new, easily reversible stud partition walls to 
reconfigure the internal space forming a utility, pantry, store and snug room. The 
subdivision of the space will involve the loss of the drying shelf that is a key feature of 
the building pertaining to its historic function as a drying shed. The chimney stack and 
flue will be retained and new openings are minimal but the industrial character of the 
building will be lost to a large extent. Is it possible for part of the structure to be 

Page  65



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

retained in situ? It is recommended that a photographic record is taken of the structure 
prior to any works to remove it. 

8.2.8 As mentioned above the door into the kiln room will be removed to internally link the 
buildings. The other doors and windows will be refurbished or replaced. Their loss will 
result in minor harm to the historic fabric of the building but this loss is considered to be 
outweighed by the repair and new use of the building. 

8.2.9 Roof lights are proposed to be added to the rear roof slope to introduce natural light 
and ventilation. Their location and size are considered to be appropriate having a 
minimal impact on the appearance of the building. 

8.2.10 It is also proposed to erect a single storey, flat roofed, lightweight glazed structure as 
an extension to the courtyard side of the drying shed that will form a dining room. The 
extension will be accessible from existing openings in the drying shed and the altered 
window to door opening from the beehive kiln. The structure will be designed to be 
reversible and the use of glazing will allow views of the pottery buildings. The proposed 
extension is considered to be sympathetic to the historic building in terms of its scale, 
height and materials. 

 Workshop linking two drying sheds 

8.2.11 The proposal involves subdividing the internal space into a master bedroom with 
ensuite and dressing room. To enable this new use a number of alterations to existing 
openings are proposed: blocking up of existing door to the drying shed; blocking up of 
one opening into the 2nd drying shed and reducing the size of the other; and altering 
the rear door into a window. The existing window looking out to the courtyard will be 
retained looking out into new extension. The chimney stack will also be retained. In 
summary the proposed conversion will result in harm to the historic fabric of the 
building but the harm is considered to be outweighed by the benefit of bringing the 
building back into use. 

 2nd drying shed 

8.2.12 Lightweight stud walls will be installed in the main body of the drying shed to form a 
living room, lobby with external access, cloakroom with access to the dining room 
extension and a WC. As above, the openings into the adjoining workshop will be 
altered and in addition the modern doors and windows will be replaced. The use of 
glazed screens fitted between the brick piers helps to emphasise the original open 
sided nature of the shed and is an enhancement to the current 1980s units. The 
alterations to this building are minimal and reversible and any harm caused to the 
historic building fabric is considered to be outweighed by bringing the building back into 
use. 

8.2.13 The proposal identifies the cleaning and preservation in-situ of some surviving 
machinery/drives associated with the industrial function of the building. This is a 
positive aspect but further details on what/where/how these features will be preserved 
are required to fully address the benefit of the proposal. The information shall be 
submitted to the council for agreement in writing prior to any works commencing on 
site. 

 Workshop linking drying shed and steam house 

8.2.14 The proposal involves the subdivision of the workshop to form two bedrooms with 
ensuite bathrooms. A new door is proposed in the wall through to the drying shed 
(proposed living room) and the modern door into the steam house is proposed to be 

Page  66



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

blocked but all other openings will be retained with windows refurbished. The 
alterations to this building are minimal and reversible and any harm caused to the 
historic building fabric is considered to be outweighed by bringing the building back into 
use. 

8.2.15 The proposal identifies the cleaning and preservation in-situ of some surviving 
machinery/drives associated with the industrial function of the building. This is a 
positive aspect but further details on what/where/how these features will be preserved 
are required to fully address the benefit of the proposal. As above, the information shall 
be submitted to the council for agreement in writing prior to any works commencing on 
site. 

 Engine House and detached workshop 

8.2.16 The proposals allow for managed public access to the engine house, which is to be 
retained and used as an exhibition space for public interpretation of the site. This will 
retain the historic heritage value of the building and machinery and has the potential to 
enhance its communal heritage value however further details on how the building is 
going to be accessed by the public and maintained is required to fully address the 
benefit of the proposal. The information shall be submitted to the council for agreement 
in writing prior to any works commencing on site. 

 The proposal allows for the detached workshop building to be repaired and used as a 
store. 

 New access 

8.2.17 The development proposes the construction of a new access directly to the pottery 
buildings which is separate from the neighbouring Pottery House (now under separate 
ownership). This will require the demolition of part of the stone boundary wall to the 
site. Historically an access track/drive ran from the shared entrance in split directions to 
the house and pottery buildings. Therefore the principal of creating an access in the 
proposed location is considered to be acceptable however it is considered that a 
driveway of an informal nature could be more in-keeping with the character of the site 
compared to one constructed of block paving with kerbs. Specific materials have not 
been provided on the submitted plans to fully address the impact of the new access on 
the character of the site and setting of the listed buildings. Details of the materials to be 
used for the driveway and landscaping shall be submitted to the council for agreement 
in writing prior to any works commencing on site. 

 ‘where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of 
significance) of a designated heritage asset, the LPA should refuse consent, unless it 
can be demonstrated that the substantial harm to or loss is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh the harm or loss, or all of the following apply: 

 a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site 

 b) no viable use of the heritage asset can be found in the medium term 

 c) conservation by grant funding or public ownership is not possible 

 d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use 

8.2.18 The pottery business is no longer viable and the nature of the industrial site and its 
buildings restricts the type of new uses that can be introduced at the site. Conversion 
to housing is considered to be a viable alternative use for the buildings and the harm 

Page  67



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

caused to its physical fabric is considered to be outweighed by the benefit of bringing 
the site back into use. 

8.2.19 The site is brownfield land that has lain empty for a number of years which, given its 
poor appearance, state of repair and abandoned appearance, affects the amenity of 
the area.  The immediate benefits of the proposal include the tidying up of the site, the 
removal of the tired modern buildings dotted around the site and the urgent investment 
in the historic fabric and settings of the Historic Buildings. 

8.2.20 The long term benefits include preserving in perpetuity the Historic Buildings by 
securing a viable alternative use which will include public access to part of them. Whilst 
other schemes have come forward, most recently the sites use as an animal sanctuary, 
they have not been financially viable, and they have not resulted in the type of 
redevelopment nor the level of investment required by the Historic Buildings. 

8.2.21 The proposal will see the redevelopment of the Historic Buildings and their continued 
occupation and sympathetic maintenance as a dwelling. Given the level of investment 
and the type of use, it is unlikely that the buildings would ever default back from a 
dwelling to another use. A full assessment of the benefits of the proposal on the 
Historic Buildings was been included in the Heritage Statement submitted with the 
Applications (and is considered further in the associated Listed Building Consent 
submission Ref No 19/0638). In summary however, the Heritage Statement concludes 
that: 

“ the historic structures, machinery and evidence of industrial processes within the 
historic buildings and landscape will be almost entirely conserved and preserved in-
situ. There is only very limited loss of fabric, such as part of the drying shelf in the kiln 
and drying shed, and most changes to fabric are limited to reversible stud wall 
partitions and replacement external floors with a modest new dining room extension”. It 
is considered that the benefits are extensive – both to the redevelopment of the 
Historic Buildings and their settings.” 

8.2.22 Under Local Plan policy ENV10 “The Historic Environment’ it is noted that the Council 
“will attach great weight to the conservation and enhancement of the historic 
environment heritage assets and their setting, which help make Eden a distinctive 
place”. We consider that the Proposal would enhance the historic environment in 
accordance with this policy. It would secure future, viable uses for the Historic 
Buildings and enhance their settings by tidying up the remainder of the site and siting 
suitably designed, high quality dwellings in a low density, well-landscaped setting. 

8.2.23 NPPF paragraph 192 confirms that “In determining applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of: a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the 
significance of heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 
conservation; b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make 
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and c) the desirability of 
new development making a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness.” 

8.2.24 The proposal includes the ultimate viable use as residential for the Historic Buildings – 
securing them for future generations. This will include the opportunity for public access 
to the engine house to experience the site and understand its heritage significance. 
The proposal will also lead to the enhancement of the site – contributing positively to 
the local character and distinctiveness of the area. 

8.2.25 NPPF Paragraph 193 confirms that “when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be 

Page  68



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the 
weight should be).” We do not consider this an ‘over-riding’ weight and understand that 
the significant benefits associated with the redevelopment will need to be set in the 
context of the overall planning balance. 

8.2.26 It is to be noted that the application as submitted (and as amended) has no objection 
and/or is supported with condition by the County Archaeologist as well as the Offices of 
Historic England.  The Councils own Conservation Officer, whilst broadly supportive of 
the scheme overall has recommended that the design solution (including cladding 
material) of any acceptable scheme regarding Plot C should respect both the hierarchy 
and setting of the immediately neighbouring listed pottery buildings as well as the 
scheduled ancient monument. Revised plans and details as submitted, which show for 
a stepped down dwelling, clad in locally evident and found natural stone and slate are 
considered to both effectively and sympathetically achieve this. 

8.2.27 The alternative to the above proposals are likely that the site remains undeveloped, the 
Historic Buildings continue to fall into a state of disrepair and the associated present 
negative impact of and on the character and amenity of the area continues. 

8.2.28 Overall therefore, it is considered that the proposal would lead to a significant 
enhancement to the historic environment and would therefore be in accordance with 
the aims and criteria concerns of the Eden Local Plan Policy ENV10 “The Historic 
Environment” and section 16 of the NPPF. 

Proposed new houses 

8.2.29 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 s 66(1) requires a 
decision-maker, in considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a listed building or its setting, to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses. 

8.2.30 Paragraph 192 of the NPPF, 2019: In determining applications, local planning 
authorities should take account of: the desirability of new development making a 
positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness. 

8.2.31 Paragraph 193 of the NPPF, 2019 states ‘when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should 
be given to the asset’s conservation. This is irrespective of whether the potential harm 
amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.’ 

8.2.32 Policy ENV10 of Eden Local Plan says development proposals should be of a high 
quality design and sensitive design that takes account of scale, density, height and 
materials. 

8.2.33 A new building is proposed to be located to the rear of the pottery buildings on a plot 
between the former railway line and former siding. The location, size and scale of the 
building is appropriate and does not have a visual impact on the setting of the historic 
buildings. The proposed design of the building is contemporary featuring a high amount 
of glazing but makes a nod to the linear nature of the historic drying sheds and utilises 
traditional materials (red brick and slate) found on the wider site. As such the proposed 
building is considered to be sympathetic to its historic setting and of a high quality. 

8.2.34 The development also includes the construction of four new detached dwellings with 
detached garages and private gardens on plots to the east of the site – in place of the 
modern buildings and car park. These new dwellings will be accessed by a 

Page  69



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

reconfigured access in close proximity to the settling pan which is a scheduled 
monument.  Development in the area of proposed plots E and F are not considered to 
impact on key views of the historic buildings. 

8.2.35 The proposed building materials of sandstone and slate reflect the traditional pottery 
buildings and vernacular buildings located in the surrounding area. The two storey 
buildings make a nod towards Georgian houses with a symmetrical fenestration pattern 
and include features such as quoins and kneelers. However the high number of 
openings, timber canopy porches and sun rooms collectively reduce the design quality 
of the proposed buildings to a level which is not considered to be acceptable in terms 
of enhancing the setting of the listed buildings. The proposed landscaping with a high 
number of trees will help to soften the harshness of the new modern developments and 
access road. 

8.2.36 Overall therefore, it is considered that the proposal would lead to a significant 
enhancement to the historic environment and would therefore be in accordance with 
the aims and criteria concerns of the Eden Local Plan Policy ENV10 “The Historic 
Environment” and section 16 of the NPPF. 

8.3 Character and Amenity 

8.3.1 The proposed site plan shows how the site will be laid out including the access 
arrangements, the plot boundaries and the location of the new dwellings and their 
garages, and the site infrastructure i.e. drainage. 

8.3.2 The Design and Access Statement submitted with the Applications sets out how the 
design of the site has developed and sets out the rationale behind the design of the 
scheme that will restore and preserve an ‘at risk’ heritage asset. The scheme will 
comprise of a traditional style housing development which will help maintain the wider 
estate and enhance the local area, whilst respecting the existing associated historic 
character and natural environment. 

8.3.3 With regards to design, the overall external appearance of the Historic Buildings will 
change very little otherwise. There will be significant improvements made to the 
structural integrity and the ‘putting right’ of historic interventions that have not stood the 
test of time. The removal of the modern buildings to the immediate southeast of the 
Historic Buildings will result in a significant improvement to their setting. (A full 
schedule of works proposed for the Historic Buildings is included with the Applications, 
and an assessment of the changes is included with the Heritage Statement.) 

8.3.4 The remainder of the site will be subject to the development of five new dwellings. Four 
of these will address and their principle elevations will face the main (C3047) Road with 
the remaining unit sited to the rear (west) of the Site. The houses (as amended) have 
been sensitively designed taking into account both the historic significance, hierarchy 
of the site and the character of the area. The redevelopment as now proposed is 
considered to be low density, appropriate to the site and its location and importantly the 
key views into and out from the Historic Buildings will be maintained. It is also material 
at this point to bear in mind the nature, density and design of the scale of development 
previously approved in the still extant holiday complex chalet and lodge approval, 
granted under previous application Ref No 16/0792. 

8.3.5 The alternative to the proposal is that the site remains undeveloped, the Historic 
Buildings continue to fall into a state of disrepair and the associated present negative 
impact of and on the character and amenity of the area continues.  Overall the 
proposed scheme, as amended, will help achieve the long term wellbeing and re-use of 

Page  70



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

the existing former Pottery buildings as designated heritage assets and, through 
considered and sympathetic siting, scale, cladding and design, ensure that their setting 
together with that of the associated new residential development will both respect as 
well as enhance the historic environment and character of the site overall. 

8.3.6 With regards to layout and design (as amended) it is therefore considered that the 
proposal therefore reasonably complies with the relevant aims and criteria concerns of 
the adopted Eden  Local Plan Policies DEV5 “Design of New Development”, ENV10 
“The Historic Environment” and paragraph 127 of the NPPF which require good design 
in the context of historic setting. 

9. Implications 

9.1 Legal Implications 

9.1.1 The following matters have been considered but no issues are judged to arise. 

9.2 Equality and Diversity 

9.2.1 The Council must have regard to the elimination of unlawful discrimination and 
harassment, and the promotion of equality under the Equality Act 2010. 

9.3 Environment 

9.3.1 The Council must have due regard to conserving bio-diversity under the Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. 

9.4 Crime and Disorder 

9.4.1 Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, the Council must have regard to the need to 
reduce crime and disorder in exercising any of its functions. 

9.5 Human Rights 

9.5.1 In determining applications, the Council must ensure that all parties get a fair hearing 
in compliance with the provisions of Article 6 under the European Convention on 
Human Rights, as now embodied in UK law in the Human Rights Act 1998. 

10. Conclusion 

10.1 Full planning permission, listed building consent and scheduled monument consent are 
sought for the redevelopment of Wetheriggs Pottery including the erection of five new 
dwellings and the conversion of the listed building and scheduled monument to create 
an additional dwelling, and all associated infrastructure. 

10.2 Whilst the market housing is not proposed as ‘enabling development’ in its true sense, 
it will none-the-less enable both the successful and sensitive redevelopment of the 
Historic Buildings in their long term interest, and well as the enhancement of the site 
and its character overall. 

10.3 The conversion of these buildings will not go ahead without some form of financial 
stimulation. The costs would be prohibitive, as has been experienced with the evident 
and ongoing sad decline of the present site and infrastructure. 

10.4 It is accepted that there are significant benefits to the proposal in the short, medium 
and long terms including the investment in the Historic Buildings, the tidying up of and 
re-use of the wider brownfield site, the economic/social stimulation of creating 5 new 
dwellings and allowing public access to the engine room on open days. All of these 
benefits must be weighed against any harm which, given the above considerations, is 
believed to be limited. 

Page  71



Agenda Item 3 

REPORTS FOR DEBATE 

 

10.5 Outside of the ‘in principle’ support for new dwellings in Smaller Villages/Hamlets, there 
is also significant planning policy support for approving proposals which will result in 
investment to heritage assets and specifically secure a viable use for, and preserving 
them for future generations. 

10.6 The alternative to the proposal is that the site remains undeveloped, the Historic 
Buildings continue to fall into a state of disrepair and the associated present negative 
impact of and on the character and amenity of the area continues. 

10.7 Overall the proposed scheme, as amended, will help achieve the long term wellbeing 
and re-use of the existing former Pottery buildings as designated heritage assets and, 
through considered and sympathetic siting, scale, cladding and design, ensure that 
their setting together with that of the associated new residential development will both 
respect as well as enhance the historic environment and character of the site overall. 

10.8 For the above reasons the application is recommended to grant listed building consent. 

Oliver Shimell 
Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development 

 

 
 

Background Papers: Planning File 19/0637 and 19/0638 

 

Checked by or on behalf of the Monitoring Officer  

Page  72


	Agenda
	4 Appeal Decision Letters
	Eden District Council
	Planning Committee
	16 January 2020
	Appeal Decision Letters
	Report of the Assistant Director Planning and Economic Development

	5 Planning Issues
	6 Planning Issues - Applications for Debate (Green Papers)

